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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FERE

Over the past few years, the Company has encountered substantial
challenges. Initially, it was confronted with new environmental
protection mandates, necessitating the gradual shutdown and
dismantling of the primary coke ovens in compliance with policy
guidelines. Furthermore, the Company discovered off-book legacy
loans that had been concealed by prior management and the Board.
In the midst of addressing these issues, the Company also
contended with the COVID-19 pandemic, which imposed significant
hurdles due to the closures in China and Hong Kong, severely
impacting investigations, negotiations, construction, and due
diligence processes.

After two years, the Company successfully navigated numerous
challenges, efficiently resolved the off-books loans, disposed of the
subsidiary, and upgraded from a backward coke oven with an
annual capacity of 600,000 tons and a height of 4.3 meters to a high-
specification coke oven with annual capacity of 1.2 million tons and a
height of 7.1 meters. This upgrade contributed over one billion
Renminbi to the Company’s assets. Although the coke oven assets
have been completed, the public auxiliary facilities promised by
partners are still unfinished due to certain objective issues. Despite
the Company’s efforts to expedite construction through its own
channels, these facilities remain incomplete as of the date of this
report, resulting in a delay in the formal operation of the coke oven
assets. As of the date of this report, the cooperative parties are
actively working to meet construction requirements and address the
delays. The Company anticipates commencing production in the
forthcoming financial year.

Amid the momentum of China’s economic recovery, the Company
has capitalized on the opportunities arising from market
transformation, advancement, and supply-side equilibrium. The
Board and | have remained steadfast in our commitment to
addressing the challenges posed by this dynamic environment and
exploring market opportunities to foster the Company’s development,
thereby delivering substantial benefits to our stakeholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting Period”), two
coking furnaces (the “Coking Furnace Assets”) of Shanxi Jinyan
Energy Jiarun Co., Ltd.* (lL A& Efe Rz EEMREE A A]) (‘Energy
Jiarun”), a 90%-owned subsidiary of the Company, each with a
height of 7.1 meters and an annual production capacity of at least 1.2
million tonnes of coke, were prepared for production at any moment.
However, the production could not commence this year because the
public auxiliary equipment required for Energy Jiarun’s operations,
which was to be provided by Shanxi Jinyan Energy Technology
Company Limited* (L& A REEBR 2 7)) (“Energy
Technology”), was not yet completed. The external financing for
Energy Technology mentioned in the Company’s announcement
dated 18 March 2024, is facing reassessment due to some new legal
issues, as well as the Company receiving statutory demands and
winding-up petitions from China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Co.,
Limited, its major creditor. This has led the financing party for Energy
Technology to reassess risks and conduct a review. Currently,
another financing party for Energy Technology is a proposed
industrial fund, with a general partner (GP) from an organization
under the Shanxi Provincial State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission that manages government investment
funds. The limited partners (LP) include a trust company based in
Beijing. Both parties are currently communicating regarding the
terms of the agreement and technical details. It is expected that a
formal agreement will be signed and the funds will be in place
gradually before the end of this year.

Considering the timeline for the funds to be in place after the formal
agreement is signed, the time needed for the installation of the
remaining equipment in all sections, the linking of process pipelines,
and debugging, as well as the obstacles posed by the harsh winter
climate in Shanxi Province and the Spring Festival holiday. Energy
Technology expects that if there are no extreme weather conditions
this winter, trial production operations will begin in the first quarter of
next year.

The Company expects to record the value of the free use right of the
public auxiliary facilities provided by Energy Technology once the
Coking Furnace Assets are fully operational. In addition, the
Company is considering converting the Coking Furnace Assets from
construction in progress to fixed assets once these assets are
operational, aiming to accurately reflect the appraised value of the
assets. The Company anticipates that the asset value of the Coking
Furnace Assets will increase, combined with the value recorded for
the free use right. It is expected that the asset level of the Company
will be more accurately reflected after the operation in the next year.
During the Reporting Period, the value of the Coking Furnace Assets
was denominated in RMB, and the exchange rate of RMB against
Hong Kong dollar declined, resulting in a decrease in the carrying
value of the assets, which was generally attributable to foreign
exchange gains and losses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWMRDN

During the Reporting Period, China’s economy continued to recover
from the pandemic. The slowdown in economic growth, along with
structural adjustments in the real estate infrastructure and other
industries, affected the production and consumption of downstream
industries like steel and aluminum, which directly impacted the
demand and price of coke.

The upstream coal industry has undergone a phase of overcapacity
and capacity adjustment. The government has encouraged the coal
industry to reduce capacity and optimize the supply structure,
strengthen environmental protection, and reduce carbon emissions.
A series of restrictive measures and policies have been implemented
to promote the development of clean energy. As clean energy
advances and coal substitution is promoted, the coal market supply
has been affected, leading to high coal prices.

In the current market environment, the Company’s Coking Furnace
Assets which boast high environmental protection standards,
featuring an annual output of 1.2 million tons and a coking chamber
height of 7.1 meters, will provide significant competitive advantages
to the Company. The Chinese government has intensified its efforts
to combat air pollution and reduce carbon emissions by enforcing
stricter environmental protection standards and restrictive measures,
alongside supply-side structural reforms in the coking industry. The
phase-out of outdated coke production facilities that fail to meet
environmental standards will raise the overall environmental
requirements of the industry, improve the supply and demand
condition, and enhance market competition, which are expected to
bring competitive advantages to the Company’s high-standard
Coking Furnace Assets.

During the Reporting Period, the Company initiated a trial run of its
coke processing and trading business. Energy Jiarun procures raw
materials and delivers them to Energy Technology for processing
into finished coke, which is then returned to Energy Jiarun for sale.
The related by-products and chemicals are owned by Energy
Technology. However, only a portion of the settlements was
completed before the end of the Reporting Period, resulting in only
partial revenue being recorded. Most of the income will be settled
next year. The Company is expected to continue the coke processing
and trading business in the next reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated operating performance

Total revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$2,403,000 as compared to approximately
HK$34,726,000 for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 (“the
Previous Reporting Period”). The gross profit for the Reporting
Period amounted to approximately HK$3,000 (the Previous Reporting
Period: gross loss amounted to approximately HK$90,912,000), and
the Group recorded a gross profit margin of approximately 0.1% for
the Reporting Period as compared to gross loss margin of
approximately 261.8% in the Previous Reporting Period. Loss after
tax for the Reporting Period was approximately HK$35,739,000 (the
Previous Reporting Period: profit after tax was approximately
HK$1,248,861,000), and loss attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$35,732,000 (the Previous Reporting
Period: profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,250,165,000). Basic losses per share for the
Reporting Period was HK$0.12, as compared to the basic profits per
share of HK$4.35 in the Previous Reporting Period.

The Group is principally engaged in three business segments,
namely: (i) trading of coke (the “Coke Trading Segment”); (ii)
washing of raw coal into refined coal for sale and for further
processing and the sale of electricity and heat generated as by-
products produced during the washing of raw coal (the “Coal-
related Ancillary Segment”); and (iii) processing of refined coal into
coke for sale, and sale of coke by-products of coke production (the
“Coke Production Segment”).

Coke Trading Segment

During the Reporting Period, revenue from the Coke Trading
Segment amounted to approximately HK$2,403,000, and the Group’s
segment results of coke trading was approximately HK$3,000. The
Group has not generate revenue and has no segment result from the
Coke Trading Segment in the Previous Reporting Period. The
revenue for the Reporting Period mainly came from part of the
processing trade that the Company started before the end of the
Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWMRDN

Coal-related Ancillary Segment

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not generated revenue
and has no segment result from the Coal-related Ancillary Segment,
as compared to that of approximately HK$34,726,000 in the Previous
Reporting Period. The segment loss of the Coal-related Ancillary
Segment amounted to approximately HK$64,141,000 in the Previous
Reporting Period. The decrease in revenue and segment loss was
mainly due to the shut down of all 4.3-meter coking furnaces of the
Group on 15 October 2021.

Coke Production Segment

The Group has not generated revenue from the Coke Production
Segment for the Reporting Period (2023: Nil). The Group has no
segment results for the Reporting Period from the coke production
(2023: Nil). This was due to the shut down of all 4.3-meter coking
furnaces of the Group on 15 October 2021.

Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group has not generated selling and distribution costs for the
Reporting Period, as compared to that of approximately
HK$1,565,000 in the Previous Reporting Period. It was because the
Company did not generate revenue from the Coal-related Ancillary
Segment and the Coke Production Segment during the Reporting
Period.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately HK$27,327,000, of which GRG Huscoke
(Shanxi) Limited* (1L 78 & & M 5 82 JR B R 2 7)) ("GRG Huscoke”)
accounted for HK$NIl, as compared to that of the Previous Reporting
Period of approximately HK$114,007,000 of which GRG Huscoke
accounted for approximately HK$87,552,000. The decrease has
resulted from the completion of the disposal of GRG Huscoke on 30
March 2023 whereupon its financial results had ceased to be
consolidated into the financial statement of the Group and the shorter
reporting period as compared to that of Previous Reporting Period.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately HK$31,105,000, of which GRG Huscoke accounted
for HK$NIl, as compared to that of the Previous Reporting Period of
approximately HK$157,108,000, of which GRG Huscoke accounted
for approximately HK$119,096,000. The Group did not proceed with
any new loan financing during the Reporting Period. The decrease
has resulted from the completion of the disposal of GRG Huscoke on
30 March 2023 whereupon its financial results had ceased to be
consolidated into the financial statement of the Group and the shorter
reporting period as compared to that of Previous Reporting Period.

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

(Loss)/profit Before Tax

The Group’s loss before tax for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately HK$35,739,000, as compared to the profit before tax for
the Previous Reporting Period which amounted to approximately
HK$1,636,678,000. The difference was mainly attributable to (i) the gain
from the increase of the net asset value which amounted to
approximately HK$1,693,981,000 of the Company for completing the
consolidation of the Energy Jiarun (which holds the new Coking Furnace
Assets) and the disposal of a subsidiary, GRG Huscoke, in the Previous
Reporting Period. Details of these transactions were disclosed in the
circular of the Company dated 28 September 2022; and (ii) the credit
losses caused by Energy Technology failing to repay on a timely basis
amounted HK$34,316,000 in the Previous Reporting Period.

CHARGES OVER ASSETS

The Group had neither pledged assets nor pledged deposit during
the Reporting Period (including charges over deposits) (2023: Nil).

MATERIAL INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any significant
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
and it did not hold any significant investment with a value of 5% or
more of the Company’s total assets as at 31 March 2024.

ISSUE OF THE CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 8 September 2023, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement (the “CB Subscription Agreement”) with Wahen
Investments Limited (the “Subscriber”), pursuant to which the
Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for (the “CB
Subscription”) and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue
the 8% unsecured convertible bonds with 2-year maturity in principal
amount of HK$200,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). The gross
proceeds and the net proceeds from CB Subscription (assuming
Convertible Bonds are converted in full) are estimated to be HK$200
million and approximately HK$199.5 million respectively. The
Company intends to use such net proceeds to make up for repayment
of debts and the remaining net proceeds (if any) for the working
capital of the Group. For details of the CB Subscription, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 8 September 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 17 October 2023. The Subscriber is
directly wholly-owned by Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (“Mr. Zhao”), a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the CB Subscription
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company and is subject to
the reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The CB
Subscription was not approved by the independent Shareholders at
the SGM held on 3 November 2023, please refer to the poll results
announcement dated 3 November 2023 for details. As such, the
Company did not proceed with the CB Subscription.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWMRDN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximize the shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of underlying assets. To maintain the most optimum capital structure,
the Group may adjust dividend policy, capital distribution to
shareholders or issuance of new shares. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or procedures for capital management during
the Reporting Period.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, prepayment,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholder, cash and bank balances, trade payables, and other
payables and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews
and agrees upon the various policies for managing these risks.

The Group regularly adopts gearing ratios as a tool of monitoring
capital structure. The gearing ratio as of 31 March 2024 was 45%
(2023: 42%).

As of 31 March 2024, the equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$916,613,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,011,367,000).

The net assets per share as at 31 March 2024 was HK$3.74 (2023:
HK$4.14).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Net current liabilities and current ratio were approximately
HK$337,091,000 (2023: approximately HK$226,939,000) and 0.29
(2023: 0.36) respectively as at 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$2,448,000 (2023: approximately
HK$601,000), other borrowings were approximately HK$218,188,000
(2023: approximately HK$218,188,000). The majority of the cash and
cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi.

As of 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had no bills payable.

Management’s position and basis on the going concern
assumption, and its view on the disclaimer of opinion

As detailed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2024, conditions existed as at 31 March 2024
indicating the existence of material uncertainties, which may cast
significant doubt regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. In view of such circumstances, the management of the
Group has given careful consideration to the Group’s current
liquidity, the schedule of full operation of the new operating assets
and available sources of financing in considering the Group’s ability
to continue as going concern. The management has also taken or
will continue to implement the measures to mitigate the Group’s
liquidity pressure and to improve the conditions of cash flow. Taking
into account the schedule of full operation of the new operating
assets and the successful implementation of such measures, the
Management and also the Directors are satisfied that the Group will
have sufficient working capital for a period of not less than 12 months
from 31 March 2024, and hence it is appropriate to prepare the
Group’s consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
The management is of the view that the Group will have sufficient
cash resources to satisfy future working capital and other financing
requirements as and when they fall due for the period of not less than
twelve months from 31 March 2024.

FHEESRBMBRER
REBEBEFELRHLER T _NF=
A=+—H%5I#) 4337,091,000/%& 7t (=
T — = %) /5226,939,000/%8 JT) % 0.29
TE-=4:036) °

RZTBE-_WE=A=+—H0 A&EEZ}R
& RIBITHEFHNHE2,4480008 L (=
— =4 #1/5601,0008 TT) © H £ E 4
/218,188,000 B L (ZEZ=F : Y &
218,188,000/ L) « N&E B KB DR & Kk
REZEBYABTRARBE -

RZBEZ=FR-_Z_NF=A=+—0H"
REES BENFR -

EHEEBHBERERRNISNER
DUREERTERNRAF

BN E T _NEF=A=+—HILFE
4R A RRM T2zt - R-Z =M

NHEFEM  AREHASBENFELLEN
BREBEARR -ERNZEBR AEEHE
EEAEZRASERERLENREIR B
BEREEAKERANABES L
BEZEEFNERER LA ANERE KRR
EREETCRBASEEERER R
EAEENRDECENLNRERERE
AR - BEBFKEEELHEENKRE
ZERDERZSEE EREERESRE
MAKBERERELEEESHE T -0
FZA=t—HEFHTLR12{8 A HARkE
A AhRsECERERRASENSG
EMBHRRBILE BEEERS AKHE
RAERENRESER UENBE -F
“HE=ZA=t—BEFAIRT+ @A
AEHNARLEES L HEMBRERRK -

ANNUAL REPORT 202324 3% 11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWMRDN

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome
of the following measures, which may encounter multiple
uncertainties, including: (i) successfully reach the settlement with the
creditor to dismiss the winding-up petition; (i) the Group’s ability to
generate operating cash flows through the new operating assets; (iii)
actual prices of coal and related by-products throughout the forecast
period being in line with the assumed levels; and (iv) the successful
in collecting other receivables and compensation income.

There was no disagreement between the management and the
Auditor regarding the Disclaimer of opinion, considering that the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the
management on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the successful outcome of the measures which are
subject to several uncertainties. In all other respects, the Auditor is of
the view that the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Management’s position and basis, and its view on the Scope
Limitation

As detailed in the section of the “Other Matters” to the consolidated
financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2024, the auditor
qualified their opinion in respect of the scope limitation (the “Scope
Limitation”), indicating the existence of the uncertainties to the
matter of the recoverability of the trade receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables from Energy
Technology (the “Receivables”).

Considering that the Receivables have been adjudicated by the
court and are in the process of being filed for enforcement, the
Management is of the view that as at 28 August 2024, the
Receivables are ultimately recoverable with judicial intervention and
provision has been made accordingly based on the status of
enforcement of the adjudication.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

Audit Committee’s views towards the Disclaimer of opinion

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
reviewed and agreed with the Management’s position concerning
the action plan of the Group set out below to address the disclaimer
of opinion. The Audit Committee has also discussed with the
Management and the Auditor to understand the reason for the
disclaimer of opinion and the views of the Board and the Auditor. The
Audit Committee concurs with the Management’s position and views
with respect to the disclaimer of opinion and the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, the actions to be implemented by the
Management.

Audit Committee’s views towards the Scope Limitation

The Audit Committee reviewed and understood the management’s
position and basis regarding the Scope Limitation from a commercial
perspective. The Audit Committee also understood the reasons for
the Scope Limitation and the views of the auditors were from an audit
perspective and standard, which are stricter and more prudent. The
Audit Committee is of the view that the Scope Limitation is due to the
differences in the recoverability of the Receivables from a
commercial perspective versus an audit perspective.

Details of action plans of the Group to address the Disclaimer
of opinion

In order to address the uncertainties which may cast doubt regarding
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and with a view to
remove the disclaimer of opinion, the Company had taken measures
to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its cash flows,
including:

(i)  negotiations with the lender to reach a settlement to dismiss the
winding-up petition;

(i) successfully making the new operating assets in full operation,
which would enable the Group to generate operating cash
flows;

(i) continuing our efforts and take necessary actions on the
recovery of the outstanding receivables; and

(iv) seeking for other financing channels.

The Management and the Directors believe that the current action
plans are the most commercially practicable plans and measures in
addressing the Group’s liquidity matters and its ability to continue as
a going concern. The Management will focus on the current action
plans and the implementation thereof, while continuing their efforts in
addressing the going concern issue and disclaimer of opinion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWMRDN

Details of action plans of the Group to address the Scope
Limitation

In order to address the Scope Limitation in relation to the
recoverability of the Receivables, the Management has filed a lawsuit
with the Intermediate People’s Court of Luliang during the Reporting
Period and has filed a request for enforcement. The Management will
closely monitor the relevant procedures and endeavor to recover the
Receivables as soon as possible with the intervention of the court.

Impact of the Disclaimer of opinion on the Company’s
financial position

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

Impact of the Scope Limitation on the Company’s financial
position

Should the Group not achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to recover full or partial amount of the
Receivables and an adjustment would have to be made to write
down the carrying value of the Receivables to their recoverable
amounts, which results in an impairment loss recorded in the income
statement and a decrease of the value of asset in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. However, the amount of the
Receivables do not constitute a substantial part of the Group’s asset
and its impairment will not have any material financial impacts to the
Company.

OPERATING LEASE AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, according to the disclosure
requirements under Hong Kong Accounting Standards, the Group
had no operating lease commitments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company
maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system is designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper
use or disposal; relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and
complied with; reliable financial and accounting records are
maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and
regulatory reporting requirements; and key risks that may impact the
Group’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. The
review of the Group’s internal controls covers major financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management
functions. The internal control system can only provide reasonable,
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss, as
they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure
in achieving business objectives.

The Group’s risk management framework includes risk identification,
risk assessment, risk treatment and monitoring and reviewing of the
effectiveness of the measures. This risk management framework is
guided by a three-tier risk management approach. At the first line of
defense, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risks associated with all business or transactions.
Management, as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and
models, provides technical support, develops new systems and
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within the
acceptable range and that the first line of defense is effective. As the
final line of defense, the Audit Committee, with the professional
advice and opinions from external professional consultants, who
conduct annual audit work for the Group, continually inspects and
monitors the first and second lines of defense to ensure that they are
effective.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly comprises of fair value interest
risk and cash flow interest rate risk. (1) Fair value interest rate risk is
the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
the changes in market interest rates. (2) Cash flow interest rate risk is
the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of the changes in market interest rates. The Group
is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through the impact of
interest rate changes on deposits. To minimize the fair value interest
rate risk, the Group keeps its borrowings with a fixed rate of interest.
Management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWMRDN

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), United States dollars
(“USD”) and Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). The Group is exposed to
foreign currency risk arising from the monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in currencies other than functional currencies
of the respective group entities. The Group does not have any
hedging instruments outstanding. The Group will constantly review
the economic situation and its foreign currency risk profile and will
consider appropriate hedging measures in the future as may be
necessary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities that have not been provided for in the financial
statements (as at 2023: Nil).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions
that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$10,261,000, of which GRG Huscoke accounted
for HK$Nil, as compared to approximately HK$38,818,000 for the
Previous Reporting Period, of which GRG Huscoke accounted for
approximately HK$24,233,000. The disposal of GRG Huscoke has
completed on 30 March 2023 and its financial results are no longer
consolidated into the financial statement of the Group. As at 31
March 2024, the Group had 15 employees with 14 employees
stationed in Hong Kong. The decrease of the staff costs was
attributable to the disposal of GRG Huscoke at 30 March 2023. Upon
the full operation of the new coking furnace asset, the labor
relationship of the management and workers in Mainland China will
be officially transferred to Energy Jiarun.

Employees are remunerated according to the nature of the job and
market trends, performance evaluation mechanism, annual increment
and year-end performance bonus measures to reward and motivate
individual performance. As at the date of this report, the Group has
no share options outstanding under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 28 March 2013 which has expired.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRIN

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company (including sale of treasury shares). As at
31 March 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to next year, the Company’s Coking Furnace Assets
will be fully operational. Concurrently, with China’s economic
transformation, upgrades, and green development initiatives, the
demand for coke will be driven by the rise of new industries and
consumer upgrades. The Company'’s cutting-edge clean production
technology and high-quality coke will enhance competitiveness,
meet the market's need for high-quality, low-pollution coke products,
capitalize on supply-side structural adjustments, and showcase the
Company’s true value.

Additionally, the Company is actively exploring synergistic
development within the industrial chain, including downstream new
energy, new materials, and energy conservation and environmental
protection for coking enterprises. This aims to harness sustainable
development opportunities from China’s green transformation and
high-quality growth, ultimately delivering greater benefits to the
shareholders of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREEECBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang, aged 61, was appointed as an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 17 November 2016 and was
appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 2 May 2017. Mr. Zhao was
appointed as Authorized Representative on 15 January 2020 and
resigned as Authorized Representative on 1 March 2020. Mr. Zhao
has more than 20 years of experience in business executive and
management. Mr. Zhao worked for the Ministry of Foreign Trade and
Economic Cooperation of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Zhao
also acted as chairman, general manager and director of various
enterprises specializing in trading, investment, property and in the
energy field. Mr. Zhao served as chairman and executive director of
Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited (“Titan Petrochemicals”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1192) from July 2012 to September 2015. Mr. Zhao
graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies with a
Bachelor of Economics degree.

Mr. WANG Yijun, aged 61, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company since 10 July 2019. Mr. Wang served as a
director and general manager of Shanxi Yiling Investment Inc.* from
March 2010 to November 2018. Mr. Wang also served as chief
executive director of Shanxi Zhongrui Group* and general manager
of Shanxi Zhongrui Trading Company Limited* from August 1999 to
March 2010. Mr. Wang holds a professional qualification in industrial
and civil architecture at Taiyuan University.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick, aged 68, was appointed as an
executive Director and served as director of subsidiaries of the
Group with effect from 3 November 2016. Mr. Wong was appointed
as a Joint General Manager and Authorized Representative on 17
November 2016 and re-designated as General Manager on 25
November 2016 and subsequently re-designated as non-executive
Director and resigned as Authorized Representative on 9 April 2018.
Mr. Wong was re-appointed as Authorized Representative on 1
March 2020. Mr. Wong has more than 40 years of working
experience in banking, finance, commodity trading and project
development. Mr. Wong was appointed as an executive director of
Daisho Microline Holdings Limited with effect from 3 September
2020, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 567) and re-designated as a non-executive
Director with effect from 1 April 2024. Mr. Wong was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Yuan Heng Gas Holdings
Limited with effect from 26 September 2023, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 332).
Mr. Wong was appointed as an executive director of FDG Kinetic

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREEECBERE

Limited between 30 April 2021 and 20 February 2023, the shares of
which were previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Delisted, Previous Stock Code: 378), during his tenure of
office as an executive director of FDG Kinetic Limited, a winding up
order pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) was
made by the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
against FDG Kinetic Limited on 6 September 2021. Pursuant to an
announcement dated 15 February 2023 made by the Stock
Exchange, the listing of the shares of FDG Kinetic Limited was
cancelled with effect from 9:00 am on 20 March 2023. Mr. Wong was
an independent non-executive director, a member of each of the
audit committee and remuneration, quality and nomination committee
of Crown International Corporation Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 727)
between 3 March 2021 and 31 March 2022. Mr. Wong was an
executive director of Winto Group (Holdings) Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
8238) between 15 April 2019 and 6 November 2019. Mr. Wong was
an executive director of Titan Petrochemicals between 2008 and
2015. Mr. Wong was the senior vice president of Commodity and
Trade Finance at Societe Generale Singapore and the chief
executive officer in the China Division of Louis Dreyfus Group, a
global commodity trading firm. Mr. Wong is an associate member of
Chartered Institute of Bankers, United Kingdom (now renamed as
The London Institute of Banking & Finance), a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a member of The Institute of
Management Consultants Hong Kong and a Certified Management
Consultant. Mr. Wong holds a Master’'s degree in Applied Finance
from Macquarie University, Australia and an Executive Diploma in
Management Consulting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. HUANG Man Yem, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive
Director with effect from 3 November 2016. Mr. Huang is a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Huang
was appointed as Authorized Representative on 28 November 2016.
Mr. Huang has more than 18 years of working experience in
corporate development and restructuring, corporate establishment
and M&A projects, and capital market transactions (i.e. equities and
bonds/debts) on the stock exchanges of Hong Kong and Singapore
respectively. Mr. Huang is currently the general manager of the
Shanghai branch office of Expert Systems IVR (Asia) Co. Ltd., a
Hong Kong based subsidiaries of Asia-Pacific Region Unified
Communications solution provider engaged in Unified
Communications solutions development and corporate establishment
consultant business. Mr. Huang holds a Master degree of Corporate
Finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor
of Engineering in Electronic Engineering from City University of Hong
Kong.
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Mr. JIANG Jiansheng, aged 62, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 January 2020.
Mr. Jiang has served as a senior consultant and general manager of
Inner Mongolia Andeli Chemical Co., Ltd.* since 2018. Mr. Jiang
respectively served as deputy general manager, chief engineer of
the chemical sector, director of the coal-to-liquids project and senior
consultant of Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Oil Production Plant*. Mr.
Jiang also served as chemical process design engineer and dean of
the design and research institute of Yanchang Petroleum Shaanxi
Xingping Fertilizer Plant* (now known as Yanchang Petroleum
Shaanxi Xinghua Group Company*) from 1984 to 2005. Mr. Jiang
was the chairman of the National Nitrogen Fertilizer Association, the
chairman of Technical Committee of the National Chemical Synthetic
Ammonia Design Technology Center Station, a member of a
committee on standardization of Coal Fuel of National Energy
Administration, a member of the professional committee on Coal
Chemical Utilization of The Chemical Industry and Engineering
Society of China, a member of Technical Committee of the National
Gas Purification Information Centre, an expert of the Coal Chemical
Industry Expertise Committee of China Petroleum and Chemical
Industry Federation and evaluation expert of the China Development
Bank, etc. Mr. Jiang holds a professional qualification of inorganic
chemical engineering in chemical engineering and bachelor degree
in engineering at Inner Mongolia University of Technology. Mr. Jiang
is a senior engineer in professor-level and a registered chemist in
chemical process design.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TO Wing Tim, Paddy, aged 71, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since October 2009. Mr. To is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. To obtained his
Diploma in Accountancy from the University of Hong Kong in 1991.
Mr. To has over 30 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
finance industry. Mr. To has been practicing as a certified public
accountant in Hong Kong since 1980, he ceased his public practice
on 31 March 2020. Mr. To is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and an associate member of the
Association of Certified General Accountants in Canada.

Mr. LAM Hoy Lee, Laurie, aged 66, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since September 2008. Mr. Lam
is a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee,
and the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Lam has 36
years of experience in legal field working as a solicitor in Hong Kong.
Mr. Lam is a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong and non-practicing
solicitor of Singapore and a non-practicing solicitor and non-
practicing counsel of Australia.

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Dr. WANG Wei Hsin, aged 58, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 19 December 2018. Dr.
Wang is a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Dr. Wang has extensive
management experience in the financial services industry. Dr. Wang
has been redesignated from the chief financial officer of Renaissance
Asia Silk Road Group Limited (“Renaissance Asia Silk Road”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 274) to a non-executive director and the vice chairman
of the board of Renaissance Asia Silk Road from 20 July 2022. Since
28 November 2022, Dr. Wang has resigned as a non-executive
director and has been redesignated as a business president of
Renaissance Asia Silk Road and ceased to be vice chairman of its
board. Dr. Wang served as the chief executive officer of South China
Financial Holdings Limited (“South China Financial”), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 619), and a director of certain subsidiaries of South China
Financial from May 2016 to October 2018, and served as executive
director of South China Financial from March 2017 to October 2018.
Dr. Wang served as the chairman and chief executive officer of
SinoPac Securities (Asia) Limited and was responsible for the
business development and operations in Asia from 2009 to 2016. Dr.
Wang also served as the chief investment officer of Japan CDW
Group and the chief financial officer of its Taiwan subsidiary, as well
as co-founder of Yes-Asia.com and played significant role in China
Development Industrial Bank. Dr. Wang holds a PhD in Management
Science (Financial Engineering) from Imperial College London and
researched artificial intelligence and financial big data. Dr. Wang
was the fellow of Royal Society of Statistics during 1999 to 2000.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. AU Wing Sze, has been appointed as the Company Secretary
since 1 August 2020. Ms. Au holds a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration and a Master Degree in Corporate Governance. She
has solid experience in company secretarial field gained from both
listed companies and professional firms in Hong Kong. Ms. Au is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report, the CG Report and
the ESG Report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in coke trading business, coal-related ancillary
business and coke production business. The activities of each of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 of the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Overview and Financial Performance

The review of the Group’s business and financial performance for the
year ended 31 March 2024 are provided in the section
“MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” in this Annual
Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

1.  Risk arising from fluctuating prices of coke and coal

A large portion of our revenue is derived from the sale of coke.
The coke is primarily priced based on prevailing market prices,
supply and demand of the coke and by reference to various
other factors that are applicable to individual customers.
Market prices for coke is mainly affected by the coke demand
of the domestic steel industry and the coke supply in the
market, and the imbalance between supply and demand in the
steel industry and the coke market with severe structural
contradiction has led to significant fluctuations in their market
prices in previous years. The average selling price of the
Group’s coke fluctuated which was in line with the trend of the
market price of coke. Therefore, the coke price of the Group
and the market price may not be stable.

The Group’s main production costs are the coking coal and the
manufacturing costs is relatively stable. The Group has closely
monitored the market price of coke and coking coal and the
changes in the spread of between these prices is highly
sensitive. Trends in the market price of the coking coal and the
coke may not correlate to one another. When the coke market
price has declined, the Group may not be able to lower its cost
of production on the same pace as the rate of decline in coal
price. Vice versa, the increase in coal market price may not
have a corresponding increase in the coke price of the Group.
The underlying situation could adversely affect the Group’s
business, financial condition and operations.
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In response to this risk factor, the management will closely
monitor the economic environment and adopt corresponding
measures such as adjustment of production plans and
enhancement of cost monitoring.

Risks in association with changes in the Chinese
government policies and regulations

Coke production in the PRC is subjected to extensive laws,
regulations and government policies. The obligations and
requirements associated with these laws, regulations,
responsibilities of government policies, relevant fees and social
responsibilities may have a major impact on the Group’s
operation. In particular, the Chinese government in recent
years has been strengthening its environmental control and
enforcement and has implemented a series of measures to
reduce production capacity, which may adversely affect the
production, business, operation of the Group. Furthermore, the
Group will be responsible for the clean-up if the operation
results in contamination at the production facilities. Such clean-
up may impose substantial costs.

In response to this risk factor, the management regards
environmental protection and control as one of its principal
responsibilities and if necessary, the Group shall invest and
upgrade its existing equipment and facilities to achieve the
domestic environmental standards.

Risk arising from safety management

The Group’s businesses are all of high hazardous nature and
of complex uncertainties which is potentially destructive and
explosive. The Group stores, handles and transports volatile,
flammable, hazardous liquid and gaseous chemical products,
such as benzene, tar, sulphuric acid and coal gas. Improper
handling of these materials and products can cause danger
such as fires, explosions which lead property loss, personal
injuries, death and possible legal liabilities.

In response to this risk factor, the management will adopt
stringent safety management policy and control system,
reinforcement of installing safety warnings, and reinforcement
safety education, promote safety skills training and improve
employees’ safety awareness.
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Future Business Development

The Company will strive for the full operation of the new coking
furnace assets with a designed annual capacity of no less than
1,200,000 tons of coke, 65,000 tons of coal tar, 15,000 tons of crude
benzene and 15,000 tons of ammonium sulfate, and will actively
expand the market and customer base. The coke production
business is expected to generate sustained and stable income and
profit for the Group in the future. Furthermore, the Group will also
closely monitor the domestic and international market development
and adjust its strategies in due course to correspond with challenges
and seize the market opportunities.

In addition, the Company is committed to undertaking social
responsibilities, and attaches great importance to production safety
and environmental protection. In response to various environmental
protection policies launched by the Chinese government, the Group
will further improve production equipment and auxiliary facilities so
as to meet the higher environmental standards while complying with
the environmental protection requirements of the coke industry in the
PRC.

While operating the coke production business, the Company will also
continue to explore every investment opportunity for further
expansion of coke production capacity or development of the
upstream and downstream of coke industries, to further enhance the
Company’s future profitability. The Company is planning to restart
the coke trading business, including coke export and coking coal
import, in a timely manner under suitable conditions and favorable
market environment. At the same time, the Group is planning to
develop coke oven gas utilization projects for process and
production of liquid natural gas, hydrogen and other clean energy
products by utilizing the hydrogen-rich gas generated from the new
coking furnace assets.

The Group is committed to assuming social responsibilities and
emphasizes environmental protection and production safety. In order
to achieve the goal with cleaner energy emissions, the Group
continues to fulfill its responsibility for environmentally friendly
operation and upgrades production equipment and facilities with
self-raising environmental standards.
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Key Relationships with our Stakeholders

The Group strives to maintain harmonious relationship with its
stakeholders, including but not limited to, its customers, suppliers
and employees.

1.  Customers
The Group continuously pays attention to strengthen and
sustain the relationship with its major customers and ensure
customer satisfaction by providing quality products and
services to customers.

2.  Suppliers
The Group has established long-term, effective and mutual
beneficial working relationships with the major suppliers to
ensure stable and sustainable supplies for the businesses of
the Group.

3. Employees

Employees are regarded as one of the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s
human resource management is to reward and recognize
performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by appropriate training and
providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s
employees are periodically reviewed by the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. The principle of the Group’s remuneration
policy is fairness, motivating, performance-oriented and
market-competitive. Apart from salaries, medical insurance,
discretionary bonuses and retirement benefit scheme, the
Group has also adopted share option schemes for its
employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants with reference to their contributions.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s key business
operation in Shanxi Province strictly complied with applicable
regulations, laws, and standards related to environmental and social
aspects. The Group will continue to identify areas of improvement for
the concerned aspects and keep close communication with its
stakeholders for advancing environment, social and governance
management. Details of the environmental policies and performance
are set out in Environment, Social and Governance Report of this
Annual Report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Therefore, the Group’s establishment and operations
accordingly shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2024 and
up to the date of this report, the Board considers the Group has
complied with all the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 172.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as
at 31 March 2024 were as follows:

¥ NN A R 8 1 =
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BB
RETEE

Contributed surplus
Accumulated losses

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the contributed surplus
account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus if (a) it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b) the realisable
value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.
As at 31 March 2024, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to Shareholders (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company is committed to providing stable and sustainable
returns to Shareholders and endeavours to maintain stable dividend
policy whilst maintaining an equitable balance between returns to
Shareholders and investment for sustaining growth. In
recommending a dividend, the Company shall take into account the
expected future capital requirements, growth opportunities available
to the Group, net earnings of the Group, and in compliance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and in accordance with the
Bye-Laws of the Company.

1,731,681
(2,428,818)

(697,137)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who were in office during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Yijun

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick
Mr. Huang Man Yem
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng
Mr. Tang Ching Fai’

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin

U resigned on 23 January 2024

In accordance with the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick, Mr. Huang Man Yem and Mr. To Wing
Tim, Paddy shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section
heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” on pages 18 to 21 of this Annual Report.

UPDATES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the updates of
information of the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this report are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Updates

Exps BEHFE
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick o

(“Mr. Wong”)
mOHESEE(EEE])
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EREEEZBEFE] & -
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Mr. Wong was appointed as an executive director of Daisho Microline
Holdings Limited with effect from 3 September 2020, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:

567) and re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect from 1

April 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors who will retire and offer themselves for re-election at
the 2024 AGM do not have an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation. All other Directors are not appointed for
specific terms and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has in force the
permitted indemnity provisions in the Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance maintained for the Group to indemnify the Directors
against all losses and liabilities which may sustain or incur while
acting in his capacity as Director in accordance with the Bye-Laws of
the Company and the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities on the Stock Exchange, any other stock
exchange, by private arrangement or by general offer.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”)
which became effective on 28 March 2013 for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants,
including directors and eligible employees. The 2013 Scheme lasted
for a period of ten years and expired on 28 March 2023.

As the Share Option Scheme expired prior to the year ended 31
March 2024, no new option could be or was granted during the
Reporting Period, and there were no outstanding options to
subscribe for shares at the beginning and at the end of the Reporting
Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and convertible
bonds during the year ended 31 March 2024 are disclosed under
sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” and “ISSUE OF THE
CONVERTIBLE BONDS” above and in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws of
the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and Directors
is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the Directors are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2013 Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. The 2013 Scheme was expired on
28 March 20283. Details of the scheme are set out in section heading
“SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME” in this report and in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees employed in Hong Kong.

MATERIAL INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “ISSUE OF THE
CONVERTIBLE BONDS”, there were no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director or the controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the period or at any time during the period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company had any interest in any
competing business with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS” and “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” in this
report, at no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the directors of the Company or their spouse
or minor children had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the
Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

EERFETHAEZESR

RZE-_NME=A=1+—"H 8FELAK
NAIEETHRABR AR RS EEHEE
(EERBHFRBEGOZEXVE) <&M
HERMDRESS  BEBEELALXRAR
BESFLBEKNIEEETFFEZE
fft - BT EMARAME EMBEITAE
FETBFRSREFA ([ZEESFA])
BAEARRE Bz Em AT

Long positions in shares of the Company REARRGBZHRE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued
Name of Directors Nature of interest shares held share capital
HEBRITRAE
EEnR EEME s &8 BABEDL
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%

BN AL THEE 2w (Afita)

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy Beneficial owner and Interest of spouse (Note b) 24,333 0.008%

FIOR A& BEnB AR B (Mib)
Notes:
(a) As at 31 March 2024, Shun Wang Investments Limited is owned as to

(b)

100% by Whole Advance Limited, which voting ordinary shares are
owned as to 100% by Liberal Expansion Limited, which in turn is owned
as to 100% by Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, an executive Director, chairman
and chief executive officer of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Zhao is
deemed to be interested in 146,841,904 shares of the Company under
the Part XV of the SFO.

As at 31 March 2024, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, an independent non-
executive Director, together with his spouse, respectively holds 6,293
Shares and 18,040 Shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. To Wing
Tim, Paddy is interested in 6,293 Shares and deemed to have interest
in 18,040 Shares of the Company under Part XV of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of each
person, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which had been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

BREXBEEIN R_FT-_NF=A
=t—RB BESFERARFEBITHRAER
BERARA S EEMEEER (EERE
F MEIEIRBIEXVER) Z Bt - AR R
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FI2FA TR BBEIXR - HIRIET
EFRIE MG AR A MR Pz am sk A ©
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EXVEBE 2R FEINFC ME AR A SR
PretEmMAR (BRESREZER S
G PIZ AR B AR 2 e SR
B) REAXRFREBEZESMPEEIE
3 IHTFE 2 BRM R LIRBINT

Long positions in shares of the Company: REQTRBZEFE
Approximate
Percentage of
Number of  issued share
Name of substantial Shareholders  Nature of interest shares held capital
HERITRAE
TERRZHE BB EEMtE FERGHE BHABE DL
Shun Wang Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%
BT 2 & BR A A BEREAA (Hita)
Whole Advance Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%
EBEBRAF EHDEE 2 s (Mfita)
Liberal Expansion Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 146,841,904 50.57%
LN =1 NGl THEE 2w (fita)
Rontac Resources Company Limited  Beneficial owner (Note b) 14,718,922 5.07%
MEERER DA EmEE A (Kitb)
Rontac Investment Company Limited  Interest of a controlled corporation (Note b) 14,718,922 5.07%
BMEREFRAA] wHEE 2 s (FiEb)
Mr. Li Hongwei Interest of a controlled corporation (Note b) 14,718,922 5.07%
FRERE EHEE 2 s (Matb)
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Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2024, Shun Wang is owned as to 100% by Whole
Advance Limited, the voting ordinary shares of which are owned as to
100% by Liberal Expansion Limited, which in turn is owned as to 100%
by Mr. Zhao.

(b)  As at 31 March 2024, Rontac Resources Company Limited is wholly-
owned by Rontac Investment Company Limited, which in turn is owned
as to 71% by Mr. Li Hongwei. Accordingly, Mr. Li Hongwei is deemed
to be interested in 14,718,922 Shares under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the period, the Group entered into various transactions which
constituted connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. All the connected transactions during the period that need to
be disclosed herein are in compliance with the disclosure
requirements in the Listing Rules. Details of the connected
transactions of the Group for the period are set out above under the
section headed “ISSUE OF THE CONVERTIBLE BONDS”.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions as
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements falls under
the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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OTHER BORROWINGS

The other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
HK$218,188,000 (2023: HK$218,188,000). Particulars of other
borrowings are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$1,687,336,000 (20283:
HK$1,778,913,000). Details of movements of property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers of the Group accounted for 100% (2023:
approximately 99.9%) of the Group’s total turnover and the largest
customer accounted for approximately 63.8% (2023: 60.0%) of the
Group’s total turnover.

The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 100% (2023:
approximately 99.7%) of the Group’s total purchases for the period
and the largest supplier accounted for approximately 63.8% (2023:
37.4%) of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the period did a Director, an associate of a Director
or a Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of
the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring
relationship with our employees, providing quality services to its
customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has complied with the sufficiency of public
float requirement under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
March 2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Statutory demand — Cinda

With reference to the Company’s announcement dated 18 June
2024, the Company received a 2nd statutory demand from the legal
representative of the major creditor demanding the Company to pay
the outstanding borrowing of HK$200,000,000 with accrued interest,
within 21 days after the service of the statutory demand, failing which
a wind-up petition against the Company may be presented by the
major creditor. With reference to the Company’s announcements
dated 2 August 2024 and 8 August 2024,the Company received a
winding-up petition (the “Petition”), which was filed against the
Company on 2 August 2024 at the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region by the major creditor (the “Petitioner”)
for the winding up of the Company under the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance(Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong).The Company is
seeking legal opinion and advice to determine the next steps and
possible actions in respect of the Petition. Meanwhile, the Company
will endeavor to keep active and good communication with the
Petitioner, and, making efforts to procure the withdrawal the Petition
as soon as possible and will also actively prepare for a hearing
defense and strive for the court to dismiss the Petition.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to supporting sustainability of the
environment and endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and to adopt measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. The details of environmental, social and governance
information of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set
out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages
60 to 92 to this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations that have significant impact on the operations
of the Group. The Company is subject to the Listing Rules, the Codes
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, the Bermuda
Companies Law, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and/or the rules and regulations of
the jurisdictions where the shares of the Company are listed and
traded. Details of the corporate governance practices of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 38 to 59 to this Annual Report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 25
September 2024 (Wednesday) to 30 September 2024 (Monday),
both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the attendance of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
30 September 2024 (Monday), share transfer forms accompanied by
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 24 September 2024
(Tuesday).

AUDITOR

BDO Limited was appointed as the external auditor of the Group for
the period from 10 July 2019 to 25 January 2021.

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited has been appointed as the external
auditor of the Company with effect from 25 January 2021 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited as external
auditor of the Company, and to hold office until the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other change in the auditors
of the Company in the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, which will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Zhao Xu Guang
Chairman
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The Board is committed to upholding high standard of corporate
governance. The Directors believe that effective corporate
governance practices emphasised on accountability and
transparency are the keys to protect the interest of our Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, enhance the confidence in the
Group business and fulfil its social responsibility.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board regularly reviews the corporate governance practices
which have applied the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1, under the
Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange together with all other
applicable rules under Listing Rules, the SFO, the Companies
Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and guidelines.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

For the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report,
except for the code provisions C.1.6 and C.2.1 with reason for the
deviation explained hereunder, the Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code in Part 1 of Appendix C1
of the Listing Rules.

As a required disclosure under the Code Provision D.1.3 of the CG
Code, as set out in the 2023/24 annual reports, the auditor of the
Company (the “Auditor”) has issued a Disclaimer of Opinion
regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Group has taken and will continue to take certain proposed
measures to improve the Group’s working capital and cash flow
position and mitigate its liquidity pressure. For details of the
disclaimer of opinion and proposed measures, please refer to the
section headed “Management’s position and basis on the going
concern assumption, and its view on the disclaimer of opinion” of the
Annual Report. Details of action plans of the Group to address the
Scope Limitation, impact of the disclaimer on the Company’s
financial position and impact of the Scope Limitation on the
Company’s financial position are set out at page 13 and page 14 of
this report respectively.

Compliance with the Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed in writing,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied
with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company has designed an appropriate corporate governance
structure for the Group which is headed by an effective board of
directors. To assist the Board in discharging its duties and facilitate
effective management, the Board has established three Board
committees (each, a “Board Committee”), including Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.
The Board undertakes the corporate governance function and is lead
by the Chairman. The majority of the members of each Board
Committee are independent non-executive Directors, and each
Board Committee has its own defined and written terms of reference
approved by the Board covering its duties, powers and functions.
Their terms of reference are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Xu Guang
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Wang Yijun, three
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick, Mr.
Huang Man Yem and Mr. Jiang Jiansheng, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie, Mr. To
Wing Tim, Paddy and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin.

Directors’ Retirement at 2024 AGM

In accordance with the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company,
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick, Mr. Huang Man Yem and Mr. To Wing
Tim, Paddy shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section
heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” on pages 18 to 21 of this Annual Report.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
operations, strategies, financial performance and compliance. The
following outlined the key matters that are reserved to the Board for
approval:

° set Group’s overall objectives and business strategies;

° establish Board Committees, define the role and duties of each
Board Committee;

° authorise delegation of power to the management for
implementation of its decisions;
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° direct and supervise management performance;

° oversee the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory
obligations;

o review financial statements, announcements and reports; and
° recommend on of dividends and its distribution.

Delegation to the Management

The Board has delegated its power to the executive Directors to act
on its behalf. The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day
management of operations, implementing the decisions approved by
the Board, conducting regular meetings with the senior management
of the Company and its subsidiaries and associated companies, at
which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.
The executive Directors are required to report and provide an
updated information to the Board on a regular basis on business
development, financial positions, market updates, risk management,
compliance and corporate governance issues.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, being the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”), also acts as Chief Executive Officer since 2 May 2017.

Code Provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

Reason for Deviation

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang is the Chairman of the Board and also serves as
Chief Executive Officer. The Board believes that, despite the
deviation of the CG Code, vesting the roles of both Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Zhao has the benefit of ensuring the
consistent leadership within the Group and enabling more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning of the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will enable the
Company to make and implement decisions promptly and effectively.
The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account
the circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six non-executive
Directors including independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick, Mr. Huang Man Yem, Mr. Jiang
Jiansheng, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy and
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin. According to the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors at the time
being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. All non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific
term and are subject to retirement by rotation requirement under the
Bye-Laws and shall retire from office at least once every three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board comprises of three independent non-executive Directors
out of nine members of the Board in total, representing one-third of
Board. The Board is satisfied that current composition of the Board is
in compliance with the requirement of independent non-executive
Directors under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rule.

Most of the independent non-executive Directors are professionals
with recognised qualifications, either being certified public
accountant or lawyer, who possess extensive experience in their own
professions. The biography details of the independent non-executive
Directors are set out on pages 20 to 21 of this Annual Report. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, all independent non-executive
Directors contributed impartial view to the Board members and made
independent judgements on issues discussed at the Board
meetings.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each independent non-executive Director for the year ended 31
March 2024 pursuant to the independence guidelines as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considered each of the
independent non-executive Directors fulfilled the independence
requirement throughout the year and up to the date of this report.
The independent non-executive Directors had been identified in all
corporate communications of the Company that disclose the names
of Directors.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BOARD MEMBERS

Saved as disclosed under section heading “BIOGRAPHICAL
DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages
18 to 21 under this Annual Report, none of the members of the Board
has any relationship, neither financial, business, family nor other
material/relevant relations, among each other.
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MECHANISM TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS FROM
DIRECTORS

To ensure independent views and input from any Director, the
following mechanism is established by the Board:

1. Independence Assessment

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall provide
a written annual confirmation of independence to the Company
on their compliance with the independence requirements as
set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee shall assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors upon appointment and annually to ensure
they can continually exercise independent judgement.

2. Composition of Board

Currently, one-third of the Board members are independent
non-executive Directors, which meets the requirement of the
Listing Rules that at least one-third of the Board are
independent non-executive Directors.

3. Board Proceedings and Decision Making

At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board and Board committee
meetings will be given to all Directors, and all Directors are
invited to include any matters for discussion in the agenda. By
at least 3 business days in advance of every regular Board and
Board committee Meeting, Directors are provided with the
meeting agenda and the relevant board papers containing
complete, adequate and timely information to enable full
deliberation on the issues to be considered at the respective
meetings.

All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be considered at
the meetings and, where appropriate, they are required to
abstain from voting on any Board resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all regular
meetings of the Board and Board committees on which they
serve. They should also attend general meetings of the
Company to acquire understanding of the views of the
shareholders.

4. Remuneration of Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for
their role as members of the Board and Board committees and
no equity-based or incentive based compensation program is
granted to independent non-executive Directors as this may
lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their
objectivity and independence.
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5. Access to Professional Advice and Up-to-date
Information

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and
orientation program for all new recruits to the Board. Such
program would familiarise the newly appointed Director with
the nature of the business, the corporation’s strategy, the
internal control and corporate governance practices and
policies, and directors’ duties and responsibilities. Subsequent
information packages are regularly provided to the Directors to
keep them abreast of their responsibilities and infuse them with
new knowledge relevant to the Group’s current business and
operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are entitled to seek advice from the
Company Secretary as well as from independent professional
advisers at the expense of the Company.

6. Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to
express freely their independent views and inputs in an open
and candid manner. The chairman also encourages questions
and challenges from Directors, in particular independent non-
executive Directors and their comments and concerns are
closely followed up by the management.

In addition to Board meetings, the chairman schedules a
meeting annually with independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors to discuss the affairs of
the Group.

The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes that
record not only the decision reached but any concerns raised
or dissenting views expressed by Directors. Draft versions of
the minutes are circulated to all Directors for their comment
and confirmation before it is finalised for records. Minutes of all
Board and Board committee meetings are available for
Directors’ inspection.
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INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against the Directors and management of the Group.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

All Board members have separate and independent access to the
Company Secretary and management of the Group to fulfil their
duties. Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties at the Group’s expense
upon their request.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Au Wing Sze (“Ms. Au”) acts as the Company Secretary of the
Company and is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and the Board is fully briefed on all
legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments and
that it has regard to them when making decisions.

Ms. Au undertakes to ensure a good information flow within the
Board and between the Board and senior management, provides
advice to the Board in relation to Directors’ obligations under the
Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assists the
Board in implementing the corporate governance practices. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Au finished no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training and in compliance with the
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEEDINGS

Regular Board meetings were held 9 times during the year ended 31
March 2024. The Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary and company secretarial team for
ensuring that the Board procedures, all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

The chairman of the meeting set the meeting agenda in consultation
with other Board members and with assistance of the company
secretarial team. Board meeting notice is sent to the Directors at
least 14 days prior to each regular Board meeting and reasonable
notice is given for other Board meetings. Board papers and meeting
materials with sufficient information details are sent to Board and
Committee members at least 3 days before each meeting to enable
the Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
drafted by the Company Secretary of the meetings and recorded in
sufficient details of the matters discussed and decisions reached
and have been circulated to the Directors for comments and record
in a timing manner. Originals of all minutes of the Company are kept
by the company secretarial team and open for inspection by
Directors.
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If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, that
Director will be abstained from voting on the relevant resolutions with
conflict of interest and that he/she shall not be counted in the quorum
present at such Board meeting.

Attendance of Board Meeting and General Meeting during the
period

The attendance of Board meetings and general meeting during the
year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:
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Board Meetings Attendance at

Attended/Held and 2023 general
Capacity and Name of Director Eligible to Attend meetings
EFTEERLHE —EBZ=HF
RE BITRER BRRE
EERERES BREEERE HERER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and B (FEFTHAE)

Chief Executive Officer) 9/9 2/2
Mr. Wang Yijun FTEELEE 9/9 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick =OMEE 9/9 2/2
Mr. Huang Man Yem BN &AL 9/9 2/2
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng EREERE 9/9 1/2
Mr. Tang Ching Fai' eI 28 5 A 6/7 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors BM IEHITES
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie B FI 5 A& 8/9 2/2
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MR AE 9/9 2/2
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEFIELS 9/9 2/2

! resigned on 23 January 2024

Code Provision C.1.6

Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code stipulates independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors, as equal
Board members, should attend general meetings of the Company to
gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
Shareholders.

Reason for Deviation

During the Reporting Period, two general meetings of the Company
were held. Mr. Jiang Jiansheng, a non-executive Director, was
absent from the special general meeting held on 3 November 2023
due to his personal issue.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the Directors.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, all Directors had provided to the
Company a record of their CPD training by attending seminars and
conferences, taking courses and reading materials. A summary of
training topics covered is as follow:
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K wmE & RIE MBI B BRI o 55
FRE 2 RERINAT

Topics of Training

R E

Legal/ Group

Accounting/ Corporate Business/

Name of Director Financial Governance Directors Duties
ERS SEEK S

EEnR a5t B TEER EERE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang B 5 A4 v v
Mr. Wang Yijun FERELA v v
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick EY v 4
Mr. Huang Man Yem mXEBEE 4 v
Mr. Jiang Jiansheng ERERE v v
Mr. Tang Ching Fai' R AIE 28 5 A v v
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MEF £ v v
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MAROR S A4 v v
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FTHHFELT v v

! resigned on 23 January 2024

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING

The Group seeks to conduct its business honestly and with integrity
at all times. Anti-corruption and whistleblowing are essential to
establishing a healthy corporate culture and promoting high ethical
standards within the organisation.

The Group has adopted its Best Practice and Guideline on
Occupational Code of Ethics (the “Code”), setting clear anti-corruption
policy that supports the compliance of anti-corruption laws and
regulations as well as to promote an anti-corruption culture within the
organisation. The Code provides guidelines on handling conflicts of
interests and restrictions on acceptance of advantages from business
partners. Anti-corruption training is provided as part of the onboarding
process and on an ongoing basis to ensure the Company’s
expectations are effectively communicated to all levels of staff.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy who also acts as
chairman of the committee, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and Dr. Wang
Wei Hsin, and one non-executive Director, Mr. Huang Man Yem.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviews and supervises the
Group’s accounting policies and financial reporting, risk
management and internal control practices, maintains an appropriate
relationship with the external auditors and ensures the regulatory
compliance of the Group.

During the review of financial statements, the management reported
the liquidity position of the Group and measures taken/to be taken to
enable the Group to sustain as a going concern. The Audit
Committee was aware of the matter as one of key audit matters and
to be included in the section under material uncertainty related to
going concern in the Independent Auditor’s Report for 2023/24
consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee did not
express any disagreement with the management’s assessment
concerning of the going concern assumptions in the preparation of
2023/24 consolidated financial statements.

The attendance of Audit Committee meetings during the year ended
31 March 2024 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director

EREES

BERZEEH-RABIUIFATESTLION
£ (EEZESER) MRANEERT
MBI R —RIFTEFENE AN °

ERZERRAERMYEEASE 2 €5t
BRA R #5 e ~ BRI S AP ES %
B AERFEIMNSZEBE 2K A
RERAREEEAR

EERMBHRRYE SEECUAKE
2B RBAR RERER I 2 1
FHRE  NERNKEENTELE - &F
REEERRRERABRERFRZ —
WHMA—T =/ NEHFEMBEHRE
ZEIZBMRENEFELERERCE
AT BEERAR—HAN -BRZESLEL
FRRE_T_= —NMFHREVBERE
CRHBLRERRCERENBRTIEMNE
BB e

BHE-_ZT_NME=A=+—HILFE 8
BEZEBgeHRIERAEINOT

Audit Committee Meetings
Attended/Held and
Eligible to Attend

ERZEEEEREERY
EESHARER EORERBREERY
Chairman of Audit Committee ERZEEEXR
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MR A 2/2
Members RE
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie RE R 5 A 1/2
Mr. Huang Man Yem BXEBLEE 2/2
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHFELT 2/2
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the
year ended 31 March 2024 is set out as follows:

o reviewed the half-yearly and annual financial statements and
reports and recommended to the Board for adopt and
approval;

° reviewed the performance and independence of the external
auditor and recommended the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor;

° reviewed and approved the audit plan for the year ended 31
March 2024;

o reviewed the independence of external auditors and its
engagement letter and approved the engagement;

° reviewed and approved engagements of respective
independent external professionals to assess the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control system and
compliance of environmental and social regulations of the
Group; and

° reviewed the respective compliance and risk and internal
control assessment reports, and the corporate governance
review report of the Group.

The Audit Committee had recommended to the Board on
consideration of the re-appointment of Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited
as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie who also acts
as Chairman of the committee, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, Dr. Wang
Wei Hsin and one non-executive Director, Mr. Huang Man Yem.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for review and
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration structure
and policy for all Directors and senior management, reviews specific
remuneration packages, ensuring a formal and transparent process
in place to develop remuneration policy and no Director takes part in
decisions of his own remuneration.
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The attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director

BE_FT-_NMF=-_A=1T—HLEE"
MEZBEEeR 2 HFEABEIOT

Remuneration Committee
Meetings Attended/Held
and Eligible to Attend
FHEEEERLERY
EITRYRERLEERE

EERARES

Chairman of Remuneration Committee FTMEEEXE
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MRE R 5 A
Members RE

Mr. Huang Man Yem BENELAE

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy I 7 ket

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHFELT

In accordance with its terms of reference which have been revised in
December 2022, the Remuneration Committee is responsible for,
among other things:

° reviewed the Directors’ fee for the period and recommended to
the Board for approval;

° reviewed and assessed the remuneration policy and structure
of the Group;

o reviewed the appointment of Chief Executive Officer and
recommended to the Board the adjustment of monthly salary
considered his dual capacity as Chairman and the
responsibilities undertaking; and

° reviewed and/or approved matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the period are
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. The

11

1/1
171
11

RER B+ AETHRERE

HIZE AR A E (L9 0

© BRESNEFOSUNEFEIEDIY
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o RETREFEARE Y HIEE R

. RNORERZEE TREERS

%E}*Zﬁiﬁff‘&ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%‘?éﬁ%
ZEEMAREAT R

o MAR/HRMEBMLETRANEITE
ATEMEENER -

EEERHAZHF A BERN GRS MR
RMFI0-BE-_ZT_MF=A=+—H

remuneration of the members of the senior management of the [t FERFIERE S 2SR EEAEF
Group by band for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below: EHE SIS

Number of Persons as
Remuneration Band Senior Management
¥ 48 Bl EREEAEBAH
Nil to HK$2,000,000 % 2,000,000 7T 8
HK$2,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 2,000,001 7% 7T = 5,000,000 7% 7T 1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Mr.
Zhao Xu Guang who also acts as Chairman of the committee and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. To Wing
Tim, Paddy, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for review of the composition
of the Board in terms of board structure, size and diversity, review of the
board diversity policy, determination of the policy for the nomination of
Directors and identification of potential candidates for directorship,
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment, re-
election or re-designation of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, assessment of the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and review of the time commitment of each Director.
The selection criteria and procedures for the selection and nomination
of Directors are set out in the Nomination Policy, which is also published
on the Company’s website.

The attendance of Nomination Committee meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director

REEES
REZBEH " RATEFTR=2BIUF
HITESAK DB ARTESHEB L
EEEZBEER) KRB IFATESH
R MR EERTEHNEL -

REAZBEGEERINEZTEERE A
KB Z AL T EZHEK  BRAIEEGK
BZNEHER BETRAEFTHRINE
BEEZEANE REE EFZT FE
KATEFREFCRIMLBRNEFTEE
hEgs FEBYFRNTES 2B
URkigREEENEZRE -SEFHE
SHEENNURTERREREFMIERK
B ARARBEUEER -

BE_T_NWF=A=1t—HIEFE £
FEBEERZHFEABEINT

Nomination Committee
Meetings Attended/Held
and Eligible to Attend

REZESSEHERE
EERARESR BTRBREREEERE
Chairman of Nomination Committee REZEEXE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang HBXEE 1/1
Members &
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MRE R 5 A 1/1
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MRS A4 1/1
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin FHEFELT 1/1
The Nomination Committee is responsible for, among other things: REZEEHE (HFPEE) :

o reviewed the composition of the Board in terms of board
structure, size and diversity policy;

o reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

° reviewed the time commitment of each Director to discharge
their responsibilities as Director;

° reviewed the retirement by rotation requirement and nominated
the Directors for re-election; and

o reviewed the Group’s business plan and recommended to the
Board to appoint the Chairman of the Board to act as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company to ensure the business plan
can be effectively implemented.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board undertakes the corporate governance function for the
Group with assistance of the Audit Committee, which (1) develops
and reviews the policies and practices on corporate governance of
the Group, (2) reviews and monitors legal and regulatory compliance
of the Group and (3) reviews the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, (4) reviews and
monitors the code of conduct applicable to employees and directors
and (5) reviews the issuer's compliance with the code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. The internal controls of the Group are designed to
provide reasonable assurance rather than elimination of the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is designed for assurance of the Group’s
assets and that Shareholders’ investments are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal audit,
proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The risk management and internal control framework of the Group
are developed and reviewed annually based on Integrated
Framework released by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (collectively the “COSO Framework”)
which includes the following procedures:

° identify risks of the Group’s and evaluate the level of the risks
and impacts on regular basis;

° report the high risks to the management to discuss the
approach and measures to manage those risks;

° implement the measures to manage the risks as management
advised;

° review regularly whether the measures have been implemented
and appropriate at current situation;

EERMRE
EXeEERZEQZH TREAKE
ZEEERBEE . EEERE)HIE kiR
AASEZEEEABRREER  Q8F
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RN EENEREREABZEIIRSESR
XER WRIMEREANREERES
ZIIRSTH RG)REETABTTAZ
BARREEEARENZHE -
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KRR SEMIEBHZRE - ERFER
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° review annually the whole risk management and internal control
practices;

° report the effectiveness of the measures and the risk
management and internal control systems;

° adjust the risks approach and measures if consider
appropriate; and

° monitor the risks on regular basis.

For the scope limitation issue set out at the independent auditor
report, the management of the Company has followed the standard
procedures to collect and monitor the Receivables, including: (1)
timely monitoring the status of the Receivables by taking site visits;
(2) issuance of demand letters and legal letters from time to time; (3)
preparation for the litigation against Energy Technology if the
payment of Receivables has defaulted, if any; and (4) negotiation
about the repayment schedule of the Receivables. The Company
considers that the underlying causes of the scope limitation were not
caused by internal control deficiencies.

The Board considers the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate for the Group as a whole. The
Board further considers that there was no issue relating to the
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group.

Independent Assessment

To ensure the independent review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, the Group engaged
independent external professionals to perform annual review and
assessment of the risk management and internal control system of
the Group covering the year ended 31 March 2024 to ensure the
compliance of relevant regulations and rules. The review report was
submitted to the Audit Committee.

Review of the Effectiveness

The Audit Committee reviewed the relevant report and considered
the Group’s risk management and internal control system based on
COSO Framework is adequate and the practice is effective that the
Group had complied with the provisions on risk management and
internal controls as set out in the CG Code.
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCY AND REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements. The
Audit Committee were of the view that the Company’s auditor,
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited is independent.

During the year, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited had rendered audit
services and non-audit services to the Group. The non-audit services
mainly consist of review and other reporting services. The
remuneration paid/payable to it by the Group is set out as follows:

Service Rendered

BREMzBIERME
ERZEERATERARN MERZEE 2
B WERVEBREZEF 2T
AT BEREEBERR/ARAZK
BEPERESHMETMERATEE
S AZERED -

FA - PEZESADEEABERAFD
RSB R HBEZIRG & IFEZRG - 3F
EZREIZEREHNNEMERRE -
AEEON/EAEMSHINNT

Fees Paid/Payable

FriR AR 7% e/ ENER
HK$
BT
Audit Services EZART 950,000
Non-Audit Services IEEIZ RS Nil £

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2024 and other financial disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and applicable regulatory and law requirement. The
Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is
appropriate to adopt the “going concern” basis in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The Statements of the Auditor on
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 93 to 96 in
this Annual Report.
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GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out the
objective and strategies to achieve diversity on the Board, taking into
consideration a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the Group
in Hong Kong, including the Board and senior management as at 31
March 2024:

[EF: e
ARARERAKEEBEMNMERZ T -
ARAPERNEFEKRE L T/LEEK -
TEREFEREZ TN BRERER
ZERBRETERER  Fik  XEREH
BEES BXELR Rt MIEERBEF
HEZETH -EFTEMERTHUAA
A RRA - WARBRFEERBREA -
RAEeRTEMNEFERE LTSS -
BARIE N GIE— R Z T BIE RE%E
BREEAFRNUER - Fik EREEE
Bk BELR - R NBMREF
He TREINBEAKREER T (BRES
eREREBRE)R_T-_MF=A=1+—
BB R LB -

Female Male

z% B

Percentage Percentage

(number of (number of

person) person)

Ao (AE) BIH(AR)

Board o 0.0% (0) 100.0% (8)
Senior Management SRERRE 100.0% (1) 0.0% (0)
Other employees EfE S 67.0% (4) 33.0% (2)
Overall workforce BEET 30.0% (5) 70.0% (10)

Details on the gender ratio of the Group in Mainland China together
with relevant data can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 60 to 92 of this Annual Report.
Currently, the Board consists of only male members. Having
reviewed the Board composition, the Board recognises the
importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and
shall continue to review the gender diversity of the Group from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and take initiatives to identify
female candidate(s) to enhance the gender diversity among the
Board members.
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Selection of candidates as Board members will be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, expertise or professional
experience. The Board intends to maintain at least one female
Director in the Board going forward. The ultimate decision will be
based on merits and contributions which the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company plans to appoint at least one female Director by the
end of December 2024.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND CORPORATE
CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the Company
and considers that the Company’s corporate culture is aligned. The
Group is committed to investing in the industry of trading of coke,
washing of raw coal into refined coal and the sale of electricity and
heat generated as by-products, and the processing of refined coal,
creating value for consumers, and to delivering attractive and
sustainable returns to the Shareholders. Despite the ever-changing
operating environment, the Group places strong emphasis on
workplace safety, employee relations and the efficient use of
materials, energy and resources, promoting a culture of ethical
conduct and integrity. A healthy corporate culture is important to
good corporate governance which is crucial for achieving
sustainable long-term success of the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability
governance, strengthening the management and control of corporate
development’s impact on the environment and society, and creating
value for our stakeholders. The Board has overall responsibility for
the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting, and oversees the overall
ESG governance of the Company. In particular, the Board conducts
a regular review of the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered,
among others, (i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and
experience, training programmes and budget of those relating to
Group’s ESG performance and reporting; (i) the changes, since the
last annual review, in the nature and extent of significant ESG risks (if
any); and (iii) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of ESG risks. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page
60 to 92 of this Annual Report.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

With effect from 1 January 2022, the Listing Rules have been
amended which requires, among others, listed issuers to adopt a
uniform set of 14 “Core Standards” for shareholder protections for
issuers set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules. As such, the Board
proposes to amend the existing amended and restated bye-laws of
(the “Existing Bye-laws”) of the Company (the “Proposed
Amendments”) and to adopt the second amended and restated
bye-laws (the “New Bye-laws”) of the Company in substitution for
and to the exclusion of the Existing Bye- laws in order to (i) bring the
relevant provisions of the Existing Bye- laws in line with the
amendments made to the Listing Rules and the applicable laws and
procedures of Bermuda; (ii) expressly permit a general meeting of
the Company to be held as, in addition to a physical meeting, an
electronic meeting or a hybrid meeting where Shareholders may
attend the general meeting remotely through electronic means in
addition to physical attendance in person; and (iii) make other
consequential and housekeeping changes.

The Proposed Amendments and the adoption of the New Bye-laws
were subject to the approval of the Shareholders by way of a special
resolution and were approved and became effective upon the
approval by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on
28 September 20283.

The New Bye-laws are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Save for the above, there was no other significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
March 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to exercise certain rights pursuant to the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Bye-Laws of the Company and
the CG Code under the Listing Rules.

Convene Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and Bye-laws of the
Company, on requisition of Shareholders holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition (the “Request Submission Date”) not less
than 10% of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the Request
Submission Date carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, Directors shall proceed duly to convene a special general
meeting of the Company (a “SGM”).
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The requisition, may consist of several documents in like form each
signed by one or more Shareholders, must (1) state the purposes of
the SGM, (2) be signed by the Shareholders and (3) deposited at the
registered office of the Company for attention of Company Secretary.
Such requisitions will be subject to verification by the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, and upon its confirmation that
the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary shall inform the
Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all
Shareholders under the Bye-Laws. If requisition be verified as not in
order, Shareholder(s) will be notified of such results and accordingly,
a SGM will not be convened as requested.

If Directors do not within 21 days from the Request Submission Date
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the Shareholders or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the
Request Submission Date. A SGM convened on requisition of
Shareholders shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of
Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, or not less than 100 Shareholders, can request the
Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and
(b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to
be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists, or two or more copies
which between them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists,
must be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong with deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the company’s expenses in giving
effect thereto (i) in case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than 6 weeks before the meeting or (ii) in the case
of any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.
Provided that if after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a
resolution has been deposited at the principal office of the Company,
an AGM is called for a date within 6 weeks or less after the requisition
has been deposited, such requisition though not deposited within the
time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for
the purposes thereof.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications
with Shareholders and strives to ensure timeliness, completeness
and accuracy of information disclosure to Shareholders and to
protect the interests of Shareholders.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
and reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. As a
channel to further promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website allowing Shareholders to access updates on the
Company’s particulars where the Company’s announcements,
financial information, shareholders’ communication policy and other
information are posted.

The Board maintains an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
through general meeting of the Company to communicate with
Shareholders. The chairman of the Board, the representative of each
committee and the external auditor attend the general meeting to
answer any questions from Shareholders.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website, www.huscoke.com, where information and updates on the
Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

The relevant part of the shareholders’ communication policy was
reviewed during the year through discussions amongst Board
members during board meetings. The channels for Shareholders to
communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company
and the steps to solicit and understand the views of Shareholders
and stakeholders were considered to be sufficient. The Company
has reviewed communication activities and engagement with
Shareholders conducted during the year and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy which allowed Shareholders to engage
actively with the Company.
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Shareholders Enquires and Investor Relations

Shareholders are welcome to make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

For enquiries about your shareholdings on the Company, registered
Shareholders may at any time direct contact the Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar of the Company:

Tricor Secretaries Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Telephone: 2980 1333

E-mail: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

For any other enquiries, Shareholders may at any time send enquiries
to the Company:

Investor Relations
Huscoke Holdings Limited
Room 3604-05, 36th Floor
Tower One, Lippo Centre
89 Queensway, Admiralty
Hong Kong

Telephone: 2861 0704
E-mail: ir@huscoke.com
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the ESG report by Huscoke Holdings Limited (the “Group”),
highlighting its Environmental, Social, and Governance (the “ESG”)
performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting
Guide as described in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules and
Guidance set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

This ESG report covers the Group’s overall performance in two
subject areas, namely Environmental and Social, of the business
operations in Hong Kong and Mainland China (the “Reporting
Scope”) which are considered as material by the Group. The exact
coverage includes 376 m? of office space in Hong Kong, and 26,000
m? of plant area, which includes two coking furnaces that have not
yet been put into operation, in Xiaoyi, Shanxi Province from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024, unless otherwise stated.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had disposed of its business
operations in GRG Huscoke (Shan Xi) Ltd, which include the power
plant, the heating plant, the material plants, and other facilities.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” set out in Appendix C2 to
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange (the “Guide”). The contents
covered herein are in compliance with the mandatory disclosure
requirement and the provision of “Comply or Explain” as well as four
reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency required in the Guide.

Materiality — Materiality assessments have been carried out to
identify material environmental and social issues that have major
impacts on investors and other stakeholders, the significant
stakeholders, procedures, and results of the engagement of which
are presented in the section “Stakeholder Engagement and
Materiality” in this ESG Report.

Quantitative — Key performance indicators (“KPI”s) have been
established, and are measurable and applicable to make valid
comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools
used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been disclosed
when applicable. Unless otherwise specified, standards,
methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used, and
sources of conversion factors used are pursuant to Appendix 2 and
Appendix 3 of “How to Prepare an ESG Report” as set out by Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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Balance — This ESG Report presents the Group’s performance
during the Reporting Period in an impartial manner, avoiding
selections, omissions or presentation formats that may unduly
influence readers’ decisions or judgements.

Consistency — Consistent statistical methodologies and presentation
of KPIs have been used to allow meaningful comparisons of related
data over time.

THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
the Group, | am pleased to present to you the ESG Report of the
Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 (“FY2023/24").

The Group is committed to continuing its implementation of ESG-
related policies, adhering to the standard requirements of efficient
resource utilization and clean production process, and constantly
innovating and breaking through with environmental management
technologies.

Looking forward, the Group plans to open up the comprehensive
utilization of hydrogen energy through coke oven gas emitted from
coke production to transition into the field of clean energy, further
integrate its upstream and downstream operations, and build a
green and low-carbon enterprise.

THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY MISSION AND VISION

The overall sustainability commitment of the Group reinforces the
concept of creating an “ecological Shanxi” promoted by the central,
regional, and local government. The Group’s business value and
management approaches focus on serving people, homeland and
society. The Group aims to become fully vertically integrated along
the coal industry supply chain, from downstream trading to
midstream processing and upstream ancillary businesses.

During the Reporting Period, key challenges identified by the Group
included meeting more stringent environmental standards set by the
local government. The Group had disposed of its power plant,
heating plant, material plants, and other facilities during the
Reporting Period, and has invested in upgrading its remaining
environmental protection facilities. The Group shall continue to focus
on reducing emissions and resource consumption through the
adoption of cleaner production facilities, recycling all wastewater,
recycling and reusing by-products either on-site or to downstream
processors to the maximum extent.
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The Group also values its employees greatly. The Group constantly
reviews employee salaries and makes adjustments based on market
research, as well as providing employees with extensive benefits
such as free dormitory arrangements and free gym amenities. While
the Group has temporarily ceased coking-related operations during
the Reporting Period, the Group has retained most of its employees
and will be allowing them to resume work once production capacity
has been restored in the Following Reporting Period.

The Group aims to keep close communication with its stakeholders
for advancing economic benefits while improving ESG performance
and managing ESG-related risks, and to be prepared for future
business development and challenges.

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the Group’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control
systems are in place. Furthermore, the Board places heavy emphasis
on managing greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from its operations,
and is focused on actively responding to challenges arising from
climate change.

Accordingly, the Board has set up an ESG task force team to assess
and manage ESG-related and climate change issues during the
Reporting Period. The ESG task force team is in charge of monitoring
emissions indicators, overseeing the implementation of ESG policies
across the Group’s operations, and reporting any potential ESG
issues to the Board.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

The Group values feedback and opinions of its stakeholders as they
are all indispensable to the business. Thus, key internal and external
stakeholders such as board members, senior management,
shareholders, frontline employees, third-party professionals,
suppliers, customers, and regulators have been engaged such that
their needs and concerns can be better understood. Such
engagement had been conducted via various channels, one of which
was through survey distribution.

By carrying out the stakeholder engagement survey, the most
concerned ESG aspects among the stakeholders were identified.
Results show that the most material issues were on environmental
aspects. Social aspects, on the other hand, were considered less
material for the Group. This finding closely aligns with the business
nature of the Group. The following matrix shows the materiality
assessment of the stakeholder engagement.
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Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement
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According to the materiality matrix, the six most material topics to the
Group’s stakeholders and its operations are:

° Air Emissions

o Waste and Effluent

o Environmental Protection Measures

° Employment

° Occupational Health and Safety

o Product/Service Quality

The Group strictly complies with the statutory requirements in respect
of the identified material aspects. Corresponding management
practices and policies are being formulated and/or implemented
following the identification of these issues. The Group will continue to
improve its ESG management and performance by actively
communicating with its stakeholders and constantly improving its

internal policies.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
via email at ir@huscoke.com.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL
The Group stringently complies with national and local laws
and regulations concerning environmental protection and
pollution control, including but not limited to the followings:

° Environmental Protection Law of the PRC:;

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution;

° Cleaner Production Promotion Law;

o Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC;

o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste;

° Environmental Protection Tax Law of the PRC.
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Top-down, policy-driven, and performance-based
environmental protection activities have been reinforced during
the Reporting Period. This is because the local government has
issued several new policies to further improve environmental
performance in the city with a special focus on improving
performance from coal industry. Some of the policies include:

° Document No. 39 2019: Notice on Shanxi’'s Blue-Sky
Protection 2019 Action Plan;

o Regulation of Shanxi on Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution;

o Permit on Effluent Management Policy (Trial), etc.

There was no non-compliance with the above-mentioned laws
and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste during the Reporting Period.
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Al.

Emissions

1.1 Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group had disposed of
its business operations in GRG Huscoke (Shan Xi) Ltd,
which include the power plant, the heating plant, the
material plants, and other facilities. In addition, the Group
did not operate any company vehicles or mobile
machinery during the Reporting Period. As such, the
Group’s operations did not produce any nitrogen oxides
(“NOx”"), sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and particulate matter
(“PM”) during the Reporting Period.
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Table 1 Annual air emissions K TEEFXARENE
2023/24 2022/23
amount (kg) amount (kg) Note
—EB=-= —=2=-=/
—HEEE —=Eg=
Type of Air Emission RREEMER (AF) (A Fr)mer
NO, Nete2 RELyrez 0.00 131,851.90
SO Netez =R (A 0.00 121,453.61
PM Note 2 T a2 0.00 18,166.00
Note 1:  2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental data. Bict1: ZFE=Z= Z=FHFHF
E15EARIREEIR -
Note 2:  Emission factors for calculations on environmental Hidte: BREHHBI KR EF
parameters throughout this report were disclosed FrEIRIE 2B (E K
pursuant to Appendix C2 of the Main Board Listing RETREFIR ETTHA

Rules and documentation referred thereto, unless
stated otherwise.

As coking plant operations are planned to be restored by
the Following Reporting Period, the Group expects to see
an increase in air emissions for the Next ESG Report.

Once coking plant operations have been resumed, the
Group shall take measures (see Section A1.3) to ensure
that its air emissions were below the permissible level set
by the applicable national standards, including but not
limited to:

° GB16171-2012 Emission Standard of Pollutants for
Coking Chemical Industry;

° GB13271-2014 Emission Standard of Air Pollutants
for Boilers;

° All standards listed on the Emission Standard of Air
Pollutants for Coal-fired Power Plants.
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1.2 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Since the Group had disposed of its power plant, heating
plant, material plants, and other facilities during the
Reporting Period, there were no Scope 1 GHG emissions,
which would have been generated directly from the
consumption of coal for stationary combustion and fuel
for mobile combustion.

Scope 2 energy indirect GHG emissions were generated
by the Group from the purchase of electricity. Other
sources of indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions included
the use of municipal freshwater, sewage processing,
paper waste disposed at landfills, and business air travel.

During the Reporting Period, 14.34 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“tCO,e") GHG (mainly carbon dioxide,
methane, and nitrous oxide) were emitted from the
Group's operation. Compared to the Previous Reporting
Period, the amount of greenhouse gas emitted had
decreased by 99.99%, which was mainly due to the
disposal of its power plant, heating plant, material plants,
and other facilities. As coking plant operations are
planned to be restored by the Following Reporting Period,
the Group expects to see an increase in GHG emissions
for the Next ESG Report.

Since there were no coking plant, heating plant, or power
plant operations during the Reporting Period, emissions
intensity comparisons of those aspects with the Previous
Reporting Period cannot be conducted, while other
emissions intensity comparisons are not meaningful.
Nevertheless, emissions intensity figures for the Previous
Reporting Period are presented in the table below.

1.2

BERE(BERE]) K
HRAEEERAREHE B
EHBER - AR - %ﬂﬁ&
EMgss  EWwEEsE1aE
SR BE1RERE T?Fﬁﬂl
1§ B # 2K B & M5B B OB
FERBENRRERRELER -

BEEREZREREBINE
EEAEENBE - Hiik (B8E

3)REREBHRAEAMITE
FERTMBOAK -~ J5KERIE - 3H
ISR IR AR A RSz
IR e

RARE  NEBENZEH
BB =R B2 14.34 M — EL i E
E((M-_E{tREE]) (FEA
—& i FEERE/tnER) -

m|E—EREHEL BRER
BEHERR = T F£99.99% X &
AR NEEHER - 2R - Wk
AR == N =R (o) TARE DN
T—3EPEAMELEE A&E
EEHT—HRE LT
ARENRERBHENERS
e

BN ARSI &SR
BHMREEREE - l&tﬂﬂiﬁi
MUt E T EOEREE R E—
¥R & BEIT LB - T HE 5
MEEHNLRY EEE - A
E—BEHREPNFERBEHT
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Table 2 Annual GHG emissions KOFEREREHNE
Scope and 2023/24 GHG  2022/23 GHG
Operation of Emissions Emissions
Emissions Emission Sources (tCO.e) (tCO,e) Mere?
—E—-= —E2-—
“HERE —=FRE
REHHE REHHE
(Mg = S| 1L Bk (W = S b B
ERYERREE HRRR E8) E8) M
Scope 1 Direct Emission 5 [E 1 B £ H# 3 0.00 267,587.97
Combustion of petrol in mobile sources 2 0.00 283.38
R BYIRE) TR 2
Combustion of diesel in mobile sources o2 0.00 250.73
T BIIR ) S R g2
Coking Plant 0.00 0.00
= X(d
Coal-Fired Power Generation Plant 0.00 130,117.06
PR 2% TR
Coal-Fired Heat Generation Plant 0.00 136,948.05
R R R
Assimilation of Carbon Dioxide through
Tree Planting Nees 0.00 -11.25
i 38 18 A IR U — AL RS
Scope 2 Energy Indirect Emission &35 2 £ 5 B 4 13.16 5,949.93
Purchased electricity Mo 4 13.16 5,949.93
R T
Scope 3 Other Indirect emission #i /5 3 H it B £ HE 24 1.18 133.64
Electricity Used for Processing Fresh Water and
Sewage 0?2 0.10 128.85
B 38K K [ )5 7K B B2
Paper disposed at landfills N2 0.32 4.79
PR 5 B BB B AR 2
Business air travel by employees "¢ 0.76 0.00
& B B B 28 &= Iikae
Total 425t 14.34 273,671.54
Area Intensity (kgCO,e/m? total area) 0.001 410.51
EEZE(AF-—S{HREER FHXEARDR)
Employee Intensity (tCO,e/Group employee) 0.96 1,629.00
EIZE(M_StHEE SEHET)
Coke Production Intensity
(kgCO,eftonne of coke produced) N/A RiE A N/A & A
EREEFE(AF-S{tREE MWER)
Electricity Generation Intensity
(kgCO,e/MWh of electricity generated) N/A RiE A 4,354.61
REFE(AF-—G{LHREER KERKEN)
Heat Generation Intensity
(kgCO,e/GJ of heat generated) N/A FiE A 175.01

BRRTE(AF-SRER HEERE)

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
* ?‘:l:g&%b:/é

B

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

wE

2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental data,
from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

Emission factors were made reference to Appendix C2
of the Listing Rules and their referred documentation as
set out by Stock Exchange, unless stated otherwise.
Scope 3 emissions were only calculated based on the
available emission factors from the referred
documentation.

Removal factor of CO, per tree planted was 23, with
reference made to Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules
and their referred documentation as set out by Stock
Exchange.

According to The Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of People’s Republic of China (2022): Emission factor
of 0.5810 tCO,e/MWh was used for purchased
electricity from the National Grid of the PRC in 2022/23;
According to HK Electric Investments Sustainability
Report 2023: Emission factor of 0.66 tCO e/MWh was
used for purchased electricity at Hong Kong offices in
2023/24.

CO, emissions from the Group’s business air travels
were reported in accordance with the International Civil
Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Carbon Emission
Calculator.

Figure 1 CO, Emission Contributed by Each Plant by Year
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1.3 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

While the Group had disposed of its power plant, heating
plant, material plants, and other facilities during the
Reporting Period, coking plant operations are planned to
be restored by the Following Reporting Period. As such,
the Group shall continue to follow its previously-
implemented measures to mitigate emissions.

To minimise its impacts on the environment and human
health, the Group performs tests to figure out the value of
certain substances from the beginning of the production
process to better control the treatment for them. For
example, the Group measures and records the amount of
SOx in clean coal before they start using them. In later
stages, these substances are also treated by respective
facilities before being emitted into the air. These
procedures give the Group a better grasp of its sources
of emissions, the contribution of emissions at different
stages of production, and how much emission each of
those sources contributes to. The Group has continued to
invest in new facilities, and these measures shall also be
implemented in the coking plant which is planned to
begin operations in the Following Reporting Period.

Aside from managing and controlling emissions of
unwanted substances, these substances would also be
regularly sampled, closely monitored, and updated on-
site and online to ensure all emissions are following the
requirements. In-house training on the proper use and
maintenance of equipment would also be provided by the
environmental service provider (see Section B3).

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting Scope
during the Reporting Period, as well as planned major
operational changes to the Reporting Scope for the
Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall emissions intensity shall be
reset to the Following Reporting Period of 2024/25. The
original target of 10% reduction in 10 years may also be
reevaluated in the Following Reporting Period.
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1.4 Hazardous Waste and Waste Reduction Initiatives

1.5

Due to the disposal of its power plant, heating plant,
material plants, and other facilities during the Reporting
Period, and that its coking furnaces have not yet been put
into operation, the Group did not generate any significant
amounts of hazardous waste during the Reporting Period.

However, since coking plant operations are planned to

HRAEERAREHDHE
HER - BRE - MR R
Rt - AR R IR E - Eut
AEBERABREHELBELEKX
EREREY -

AW AR ETEF?%

be restored by the Following Reporting Period, the Group WEHHEMEZE K %‘% @ izl
expects to record the generation of hazardous waste for PR T — MR ii% HERE

the Next ESG Report.

Hazardous waste is usually collected and treated by
external parties, which include municipal hazardous
waste treatment plants, or appointed recyclers. As for
chemicals, to avoid pollution to the environment and
increase effort in cleaner production, waste products,
such as liquified natural gas, are recycled by downstream
factories to extract and reproduce chemicals like,
synthetic ammonia, urea, and ethylene glycol. These will
then be used again by the coal industry.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting Scope
during the Reporting Period, as well as planned major
operational changes to the Reporting Scope for the
Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall hazardous waste generation
intensity shall be reset to the Following Reporting Period
of 2024/25. The original target of 30% reduction in 10
years may also be reevaluated in the Following Reporting
Period.

Non-hazardous Waste and Waste Reduction Initiatives
Due to the disposal of its business operations in GRG
Huscoke (Shan Xi) Ltd, the Group no longer generates
any substantial amount of non-hazardous waste. While

1.5

AWM ECHELNAEEY -

EEEMBEHRIINBESHKE
MEE HPBEHmEETE
MEEMKIETEHNR KR - E
MieBm BRTHREHREE
EERE WMABEREER T
B BRIe RAREFREYE m B
TR TR B4 AR BRI A A
EEKa -KxkI B
B o i3 L BE W A% BRIk
TR

HRARERARERERLES
REEZY T —HEHME
BEBENTEEALEZS
ERBETRYMELEERIEA
REEFEEERT —HEH
BM(ZZ2 -0/ =“HF) - 10F
AR 2 30% 8 R E BRI AR
— R EHEERG -

EE Y K 6l A
HRASEHEERUTASSE
MERERARABIMERLE -
AEETHBEEREEEZREY -

the Group’s Hong Kong office generates small amounts {$M$E EEAMEREELED
of domestic and office waste, this amount is considered RERFRAEZEREY  HEZH
insignificant and, as such, the Group had not kept E%EZ@E?%&TE =R N S
relevant records. I AR F AR AL 8% o

The significant change in the total amount of non- EENBEEEMESTEEX

hazardous waste generated is mainly due to the disposal
of its power plant, heating plant, material plants, and
other facilities during the Reporting Period. However,
since coking plant operations are planned to be restored
by the Following Reporting Period, the generation of non-
hazardous waste would be recorded for the Next ESG
Report.
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Table 3 Annual non-hazardous waste generation and

REFREZEYELERGEIE

treatment methods TE
2023/24 Annual  2022/23 Annual
waste amount waste amount
Non-hazardous waste (intonnes)  (in tonnes) "’ Waste treatment method
—g-= —E-=
—HFEZEE “ZFEZFE
BEWEE BEMEE
B|ERBY (BAmESH) (AMESH) W21 ERYIERIE 750K
Fly ash 0 56,044 Sent to building materials
E KA
Boiler slag 0 71,132  manufacturers for recovery
i Pics SUE R MU
Activated coal 0 0 Mixed with refined coal for coking
TEME HIFHEARE

Note 1:  2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental data,

from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting Scope
during the Reporting Period, as well as planned major
operational changes to the Reporting Scope for the
Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall non-hazardous waste
generation intensity shall be reset to the Following
Reporting Period of 2024/25. The original target of 5%
reduction in 10 years may also be reevaluated in the

Following Reporting Period.
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A2. Use of Resources

2.1 Energy Consumption and Use Efficiency Initiatives
During the Reporting Period, a total of 19,935 Kilowatt-
hour (“kWh") of energy was used by the Group. All
energy consumed by the Group during the Reporting
Period was contributed by electricity.

Since there were no coking plant, heating plant, or power
plant operations during the Reporting Period, emissions
intensity comparisons of those aspects with the Previous
Reporting Period cannot be conducted, while other
emissions intensity comparisons are not meaningful.

A2. BEREA

21 BEFEERFBAMEERL
RASREH  AEBEFRAE &
19,935 F FLB ([ F FBFJ) A9 8%
B REBRAREHHERED
FTERRHAKREBEN -

BRM R BEEREE  FAitEX
51t F 75 E A BE IR E 8 —
fE ¥R &5 FAE 7T LL 8 - 0 Lt B
MEENLBRL EEE -

Table 4 Annual Energy Use K42 FREIR(EFH
2023/24 2022/23 2022/23
2023/24 Consumption Consumption Consumption
Consumption (kWh) Note 1 (kWh) Yere?
—B-= -8z
-BC-= “mEHE —8-C SEERE
Energy Usage HRER “IEHE (TRE)  Z=HEH# (FRE) A1
Coke Oven Gas BiER 0mé 0 ome 0
UHK UK
Electricity (Self-Produced) EN(BE) 0kWh 0 31,281,043 kWh 31,281,043
TRE THE
Electricity (Purchased) E5(EE) 19,935 kWh 19935 10,240,841 kWh 10,240,841
TRE TRE
Steam 9] 0GJEEF 0 28791GJEEE 7,997,500
Cleaned Coal BA Okg 2T 0 2155652kg Aff 1577,364
Diesel LY 0 litres AF 0 106,538 lires 27t 957,956
Petrol b 0litres A7 0 95814litres AFt 944,153
Total @ 19,935 52,998,857
I

Note: Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy
Statistics Manual, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories, and 2020 China Energy
Statistical Yearbook.

Note 1:  2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental data,
from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

Kzt : BERERETZZEBREER
FRERAA FM —FF
NEBRITRIRZ(EZ B
BB EREEERD
K b B BE R AT AT 8
2020 -

K1 RZFEZ=Z#F—HF—H
B _=F=HA=1H"
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Table 5 Distribution of Electricity Used FEENEA DM

2023/24 2022/23
Consumption Consumption
(kWh) (KWh) Nete 1

—E2-= —=E-=
“HOEHRE —=EHE
Electricity Usage EHER (FEH) (F FLB) mrazt
Heating plant 2R = 15,114,660
Power plant BB = 14,458,717
Office WA= 19,935 11,618,806
Gas Station e vk - 170,305
Coal washing plant Ve R - 133,906
Coking plant 21 - 25,490
Transportation B = 0
Total et 19,935 41,521,884

Note 1:  2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental data,
from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting Scope
during the Reporting Period, as well as planned major
operational changes to the Reporting Scope for the
Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall energy consumption intensity
shall be reset to the Following Reporting Period of
2024/25. The original target of 10% reduction in 10 years
may also be reevaluated in the Following Reporting
Period.
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2.2 Water Consumption and Use Efficiency Initiatives 22 RAREAMFELEE

The total water consumption for the Group was 149 m?3,
which represents a 99.98% decrease from the Previous
Reporting Period. Since there were no coking plant,
heating plant, or power plant operations during the
Reporting Period, emissions intensity comparisons of
those aspects with the Previous Reporting Period cannot
be conducted, while other emissions intensity
comparisons are not meaningful.

The significant change in the total water consumption is
mainly due to the disposal of its power plant, heating
plant, material plants, and other facilities during the
Reporting Period. However, since coking plant operations
are planned to be restored by the Following Reporting
Period, water consumption would be recorded for the
Next ESG Report.

No issues on sourcing water were reported during the
Reporting Period.

KEBAKBE B1493 7K -
FL—Mﬁiﬁﬁ\%%%

ﬁﬁ&%%ﬁék I%ﬁﬁ
Bt EFEEREESE E—
& R &5 A 1T L 8 0 H A 5E
MEENL R EEE -

AKBEREERNEILEER
RAREHHEHBEER - &
TRRR R R R e T B o AR
i EWEMFH%%T—ﬁ
SHEmELE BEBSET
—MRE - ﬁ2&§ﬁ$%$
SCERFKE ©

RARER - KRBEH TR -
I & R & SKEUKIR T H Y RE -

Table 6 Annual water consumption FEFRFHKE

2023/24 2022/23
Consumption Consumption
(m3) (m3) Note 1

—E-= =322
Z“HOEHE T=HEHE
Water consumption AXE (3275 3K) (3275 3K) w1
Heating plant EHOR B - 359,673
Power plant BEMR - 253,900
Coking plant 21 - 0
Office MEBE 140.22 N/A 7 i FA

Note 1:  2022/23 figures cover 15 months of environmental data,
from 1 January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

While the Group had disposed of its power plant, heating
plant, material plants, and other facilities during the
Reporting Period, coking plant operations are planned to
be restored by the Following Reporting Period. As such,
the Group shall continue to follow its previously-
implemented measures to reduce water consumption.

W1 R=FE-—=—F—H—AZF
—E-—ZHF=ZH=+AH"
ZE - T =FHEE
JEE 15 (B A BB E B
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2.3

2.4

The Group continuously conserves water resources and
recycles water whenever possible. Wastewater would be
concentrated, filtered, and monitored to ensure their
parameters (e.g., pH, suspended solids, total
phosphorus, total nitrogen, volatile phenol, polyaromatic
hydrocarbon (PAH), benzene, BOD, CODcr) are within
permissible level set by GB16171-2012 Emission
Standard of Pollutants for Coking Chemical Industry,
before they would be sent for consumption by the second
time for processes such as coking, coal quenching,
chemicals treatment, and biochemical sewage treatment.
They will finally be completely absorbed or used up, thus,
not discharged.

Due to major operational changes to the Reporting Scope
during the Reporting Period, as well as planned major
operational changes to the Reporting Scope for the
Following Reporting Period, the baseline year for
reduction target of overall water consumption intensity
shall be reset to the Following Reporting Period of
2024/25. The original target of 10% reduction in 10 years
may also be reevaluated in the Following Reporting
Period.

Coal Consumption and Use Efficiency

Coal is a key resource of the Group as it is the most
important raw material for the Group’s main business,
coking. However, due to the disposal of GRG Huscoke
(Shan Xi) Ltd by the Group, and that its coking furnaces
have not yet been put into operation, the Group had no
coal consumption during the Reporting Period.

However, since coking plant operations are planned to
be restored for the Following Reporting Period, the Group
expects to record coal consumption for the Next ESG
Report.

The Group will keep an effort in using all coal materials
and residue to their fullest potential.

Packaging Material
The Group’s operation does not involve any significant
use of packaging materials.
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A3.
3.1

A4.

A4.1.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment
Following the issuing of several major policies by local
government, the Group has formulated and implemented
various controlling schemes to control its impacts on the
environment, such as dust, air, fugitive, and volatile
organic compounds emissions, and water discharge.

Once coking plant operations are restored, the Group
aims to achieve cleaner production by monitoring the
waste or emission that would be generated from raw
materials till the end product.

Besides emission and discharges, the Group’s use of
ground water and pollution may also put a risk on
surrounding lands in terms of soil condition caused by
reduction in humidity. The Group will continue to monitor
its air emission, solid waste generation, wastewater
discharge, and noise level to ensure minimal impacts on
the surrounding environment.

Climate Change

Significant Climate-Related Issues

Climate change poses a huge threat to all businesses,
and that of the Group’s is not an exception. In response
to the global and national call to have carbon emissions
peak before 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality before
2050 or 2060, the Group acknowledges the significance
of addressing climate change in order to be more
responsive to potential climate-related consequences.
Subsequently, the Group has started to take into account
the recommendations of Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) to enhance the
governance processes and integrate the consideration of
the climate-related risks and opportunities into our risk
assessment.
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The Group understands the risks and threats posed by
climate change. The Group is aware of various carbon
reduction targets that have been established by
respective countries, and anticipates that more stringent
policies will be implemented, which expose the Group’s
business to policy and regulation risks. Accordingly, the
Group has identified relevant climate-related risks and
assessed their potential financial impacts. The climate
risks identified, their time horizon, trend, and the potential
financial impacts affecting the Group are shown below:

Table 7 Summary of Climate Risks

REET BRARE KR
BEEBE - AKET R SE
EHESBRBHEBER XIE
HEEmEBRROBE ME
1< 2 5= B B 2675 [ B IR 3R e
EERR - FHitt - NEEEER
FEREMEERR X EFHE
HEEVBRZE -CHAINR
fREE  EREHE 82 LY
AEBHEEMGRENT

xR 7RANRE f2 B &

PR

Climate Risks | Time horizon | Trend Potential financial impact
RRER BEEE ik BENBEE
Acute Short term Increase Extreme weather events with increased severity during
i 2 H tH cyclones, hurricanes, storm surges and floods can cause
supply chain interruption by bringing damage to local
® infrastructure, potential damage to offices and disruption to
N human resources.
T %‘ AR BE - RRARLHE BAREEHNEER
T ® EREN AR RTERERTN  HRAREREER
g im g BAANER  SREEEPE -
g Chronic Long term Increase Longer-term shifts in climate patterns can increase capital
i3 =8 tH costs, operating costs, costs of human resources and
increased insurance premium.
REEABERBECBEMERKE BEXK - ANE
BERARRRE -
Technology Long term Increase During the transitional period, the Group expects increased
L} =8 A procurement expenditures to introduce new and alternative
technologies, and the additional cost of adopting/deploying
new practices and processes.
RBEPRE  AEER AL MRBRX - 5l AR RE
Rl WEBIMNE IR,/ BENEBREFHRE
Policy and Legal | Short to medium | Increase Implementation of tightened environmental laws, stringent
o WK AR term tH requirements on climate disclosures and carbon pricing
X e system increases operating costs.
T g Bit@RNRREAR RREBENRRZRRRKERBERE
£ E NIES TN
:“% gﬁ Market Short term Increase During the transitional period, the Group might face a
& [ 2 H A decrease in revenue due to higher environmental requirements
= of clients, if no strategy has been set accordingly.
REBEPRE MY EHTHEERE ASERERTFRE
EENREEKMERKARD
Reputation Short to medium | Increase Stakeholders' concerns on climate-related issues of the Group
BE term HH might dampen the investment sentiment of investors,

impacting the stock price and market capitalisation of the
Group, and hence increasing the liquidity risk.

MERB YA SERREBRBENEERGTEREEN
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A4.2. Significant Climate-Related Issues

The Group recognises that extreme weather events may
negatively impact daily operations and has accordingly
prepared contingency plans for these situations. In cases
of extreme weather such as typhoons or heavy rain, the
Board shall execute procedures to resume production
and maintain operations as soon as possible.

However, the Group views climate change not only as a
risk to mitigate, but also an opportunity for the Group to
transition into a low-carbon enterprise. Upon request from
the Shanxi local government, the Group has ceased
operations of its original coking plant in October 2021 as
part of the efforts to improve air quality within the Shanxi
province. The Group has used this opportunity to
purchase new coke production ovens that utilise cleaner
hydrogen energy and more efficient technology, which is
expected to begin operations in the Following Reporting
Period. This shall allow the Group to expand its
production scale while also lowering its carbon emissions
intensity.

B. SOCIAL

1.

B1.

Employment and labour practices

Employment

The Group stringently complies with national and local
laws and regulations concerning employment and labour
practices, including but not limited to the followings,

o The Employment Ordinance of the Laws of Hong
Kong;

o The Minimum Wage Ordinance of the Laws of Hong
Kong;

o Labour Law of the PRC;

o Labour Contract Law of the PRC;

° Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees;

° Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour.
No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,

anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare had
been identified during the Reporting Period.
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Employment and Turnover Figures

As of 31 March 2024, there was a total of 15 employees
working for the Group. The huge decrease in number of
employees from the Previous Reporting Period is due to
the disposal of GRG Huscoke (Shan Xi) Ltd during the

EBRTAEF

HE-_Z-_ME=A=+—8"
HEIBZEETIAARERTE-
BTAHE E—EfRESHAE
WML RAREAREHHE L

Reporting Period. See the table below for the detailed e EMEIRER AT -
distribution. A MmATE -
Table 8 Employment Figures FKEIEMREE
31 March 2024 30 March 2023 '
ZECNE=ZR=1-H ZECZEZA=1R!
Number of Employment Number of Employment
Employees Percentage Employees Percentage
BERTAEN
Total Workforce as of BI4Y EE¥E EEEIt EEgE EEEI L
Employment Type EREZ
Full Time 28 15 100.00% 168 100.00%
Part Time *B 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
Employee Category EEEF
Senior Management RRERE 8 53.33% 3 1.79%
Middle Management HRERE 6 40.00% 27 16.07%
Frontling and Other Staff AR A 1 6.67% 138 82.14%
Age Group FE4R
18-25 18-25 0 0.00% 0 0.00%
26-35 26-35 4 26.67% 19 11.31%
36-45 36-45 1 6.67% 70 41.67%
46-55 46-55 3 20.00% 57 33.93%
56 or above B6RREAL 7 46.67% 2 13.10%
Gender 374
Male il 10 66.67% 137 81.55%
Female it 5 33.33% 31 18.45%
Geographical Region HENE
Mainland China RE R 1 6.67% 168 100.0%
Hong Kong BE 14 93.33% N/A 1A N/A R A
1 The cutoff date of 30 March 2023 was chosen since the 1 éﬂﬁi’n: F-=#=H=1H
RBEZAB T ERAEEE

Group has sold off its business operations in Mainland
China on 30 March 2023, so its employment and turnover
figures as of 30 March 2023 would be most reflective of
the Group’s operations throughout the Reporting Period.
As of 31 March 2023, the total workforce of the Group in
Mainland China is 1.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T

RZE-—=F=A=+HH
B H R B A B 2T A
BE-EFE_—F=HA=+HmH
MEAMREZERERB
7K 55 B R 3 & B 2 A B A A
EEER BE_ET-_=F=
A=+—H  FEBERFEA
HWEE T AE1E -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiIE - HEBRERRS

BE-_T-_NF=A=1+—8"
AEBMAEIREITRER  mAX
%320.00% ° A D MHAE2H T

As of 31 March 2024, 3 people left the Group,
contributing to a turnover rate of 20.00%. See the table
below for detailed distribution.

E
Table 9 Turnover Figures KIMKEF
31 March 2024 30 March 2023 *ete
ZE-mE=ZR=1-H ZEC=F=-f=1RME
Number of Turnover Number of Turnover
Employees Rate Employees Rate

Turnover Figures REBF EEgE REE EEgE RAE
Employment Type EREZ

Full Time £ &) 20.00% 86 51.19%

Part Time RE 0 NA @R 0 N/A A&
Employee Category EEES

Senior Management RREEE 0 0.00% 0 0.00%

Middle Management HREEE 0 0.00% 3 1.11%

Frontling and Other Staff ARRERET 3 300.00% 83 60.14%
Age Group FEAR

18-25 18-25 0 N/A 8 0 N/A 8

26-35 26-35 3 75.00% 31 163.16%

36-45 36-45 0 0.00% 22 31.43%

46-55 46-55 0 0.00% 25 43.86%

56 or above e 0 0.00% 8 36.36%
Gender 1)

Male il 1 10.00% 46 33.58%

Female g 2 40.00% 40 129.03%
Geographical Region HENE

Mainland China HEIA 0 0.00% 86 51.19%

Hong Kong 0 3 21.43% NA T B NIA T B

Note 1: 2023 figures cover 15 months of social data, from 1
January 2022 to 30 March 2023.

M1 R=ZF=Z=ZF—HF—HZF
—E_=ZF=A=+H"
—E - CFMEFRES
1685 A1t & 2% -
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1.1

Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Group values input of its employees, hence
offers generous welfare to them in return of their
hard work. This has contributed to a relatively low
staff turnover rate, especially for management-level
positions. Not only does the Group ensure
employees’ benefits and welfare by strictly following
the above-mentioned laws and regulations, the
Group also established its own policies as an
internal guideline. There had been no non-
compliance regarding recruitment, compensation
and dismissal, promotion, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, and benefits and welfare
during the Reporting Year.

In terms of remuneration, the Group continuously
reviews its salaries to maintain its competitiveness.
After conducting thorough market research, the
Group has started to determine employees’ base
salary on the three major categories of, position
salary, working age, and education level. Besides,
employees are entitled to paid annual leave, sick
leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, injury leave, compensation leave and
breastfeeding breaks, which are all performed with
accordance to the principle, “everyone is equal
regardless of the position hold”, where the Group
treats all employees fairly.

On top of that, the Group also strives to provide all-
rounded welfare to retain talents. Some benefits that
employees enjoy are, free accommodation, free
domestic-use heating, economical meal plans, free
access to a well-equipped gym room, one-off
subsidies for workers’ children who obtain offers
into universities, etc.
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1.2 Employee Communication

As the Group values ideas from employees, the
Group also has a labour union for its employees. In
case of any complaints or feedback from employees
to the Group, the union acts as a bridge to
communicate employees’ needs and demands to
the Group, whereas the Group understands its
employees better through the union.

The Group also believes that well-established
communication is key to improving teamwork and
efficiency. Thus, the Group actively encouraged
staff to bond with one another outside of work by
applying for local sports and talents, such as
singing, competitions for them during the Reporting
Year.

B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group regards providing a safe and accident-free
working environment for employees as of paramount
importance. Therefore, both external and internal
guidelines and regulations are followed by the Group.
External guidelines and regulations cover national,
provincial, and local level instructions. Some instructions
that the Group abides by include (but is not limited to):

° Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of the
Laws of Hong Kong;

o Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases;

° Requirements and Evaluation Criteria for the
Standardized Production of Hazardous Chemicals
in Shanxi Province; and

o Xiaoyi People’s Government Safe Production
Committee’s Guideline on the Further Strengthening
of Occupational Diseases Prevention Work.
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Internal policies outlined by the Group cover areas
including:

° restriction and control on air composition;

° mandatory and regular health checks for certain
types of staff (such as those who are likely to get
occupational health diseases);

° education and training on safety precautions and
importance of adhering to the policies;

° provision of personal protection equipment;

° regular fire or hazardous drills, and feedback and
reflection on such drills, to constantly prepare for
and improve reactions to emergencies; and

° restriction on over-time work and operating
machines that produce radiance, noise, pungent
odour, etc. for women who are pregnant,
breastfeeding, or on mensuration, etc.

Such policies and implementation continue to ensure that
employees can work under a safe environment. During
the Reporting Period, no employee was injured or passed
away from working on their tasks. No non-compliance
had been recorded regarding the Group’s health and
safety policies.

Apart from measures preventing employees from getting
injured in work-induced accidents, various measures are
also taken to control and minimise chances of employees
being endangered by non-work-related hazards. For
example, as the Group provides accommodation,
showering, and laundry facilities for employees, devices
and equipment, such as showerheads and heating
system, within these facilities are regularly upgraded to
ensure they are safe to use. See the table below for
summary of occupational health and safety data of the
Group for past three years.
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B3.

Table 10 Occupational Health and Safety Data K I0BERER L TEE
2023/24 2022/23 Note 1 2021
—E=-= —E:=-=
—HE gL —B-—F
Number of work fatalities IBETAH 0 0 0
Fatality rate BT E 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Cases that contributed to >3 EZEB3EI{EA
lost working days BRI EH 0 0 0
Work injury cases that BYTRBIFEIE
contributed to <3 lost HEBXAHNIGRG
working days 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury EIEEXHWBEH 0 0 0
Note 1: 2022/23 figures cover 15 months of social data, from 1 a1 RZFE-——F—HF—HZF
January 2022 to 30 March 2023. —E-=ZF=ZA=+H"
—E_CE=FMETF
JRE 1518 A K & B -
Development and Training B3. R

The Group strives to constantly deliver comprehensive
career training to employees to equip them with the
necessary knowledge of the industry and maintain their
professionalism. Hence, employees get a 2-day training
when they get into their positions, followed by regular
training conducted by training companies, usually
monthly. A wide range of topics such as internal
occupation health and safety training was provided to
employees.

Overall, 14 employees, or 93.33% of all employees,
received training, and the average training hours per
employee, inclusive of those who did not receive training,
was 11.8 hours. See Figures 2 and 3 for percentage of
employees trained and average training hours for each
worker category.
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Figure 2 Percentage of Employees Trained by Category 2 2IZBEFN B S ZINE T B 7
L
Percentage of employees trained
FHETEA L
Female %%
Male S
Frontline and Other Employees
AR EMET
Middle Management
PREIEE
Senior Management
BRERE
0.00% 20.00% 40.00% 60.00% 80.00% 100.00%
Figure 3 Average Training Hours by Category 31ZHE B &) 57 8 T 15 45 3| 5 [T

Average training hours per employee
BEETHFIEEIIRE

Female %1%

Male S

Frontline and Other Employees
R R EME T

Middle Management
hARERE

Senior Management
RREERE

10 15 20

o
o

2 Training percentage is calculated by dividing the number of employees 2 = B 7 b T3 RN R & B 1 R 52 B A 4

of the relevant employee category that received training during the BETHEFIE T AHGUIEBEE TS
Reporting Period by the total number of employees of that relevant BWE T/HEEE -

employee category.
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B4.

To keep up with the constantly updating environmental
protection policies and facilities, on-site training is
provided to staff by contractors to ensure the proper
functioning of the newly installed equipment, topics
include but not limited to:

° Structure and mechanism of the facility;

° Facility operation & maintenance; and

° Proper selection and usage of spare parts and
auxiliary materials.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly follows relevant laws and regulations
such as the Employment of Child Labour Regulations of
the Employment Ordinance of the Laws of Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of
the PRC, the Law on the Protection of Minors to manage
labour practices. Screening and background checks are
performed when recruiting new employees. Working
hours are also strictly restricted to 8 hours in Mainland
China, as to prevent excess workload. Forced labour is
restrained as the Group is confined to Article 38 of the
Labour Contract Law.

No child labour, forced, or compulsory labour was
reported and/or identified within any sites of the Group
during the Reporting Period. There are no major risks
associated with incidents of child labour, forced or
compulsory labour within the Group’s operation sites. If
any case of non-compliance is discovered, the Group will
immediately terminate employment and further investigate
to avoid recurrence.
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B5.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the Procurement Policy and Standardized
Purchasing Procedure in place which requires suppliers
of the Group to provide proofs of basic qualifications they
have acquired relating to the environmental aspects,
such as sewage discharge permission. The suppliers’
effort and means of reducing their environmental impacts
are also looked into when the Group screens and
chooses suppliers, for example, the Group prioritises
suppliers who take steps to reduce dust and pollution into
air during transportation by covering materials on trucks.
The information is then audited, followed by a site visit
conducted by the Group to respective factories with the
suppliers to confirm that the practices are well taken
place.

On top of the above policies, the Group specifies detailed
clauses within contracts to ensure business partners to
have implemented adequate management policies
regarding their social and environmental impacts. For
example, within the Environmental and Energy Property
Management Contract, the Group requests that both
parties shall comply with the safety and environmental
protection requirements:

° The service provider shall set up a management
committee to ensure safety production;

o The service provider shall submit to the Group’s
supervision whenever the Group observes a
potential risk;

° The service provider shall arrange its personnel to
receive necessary training offered by the Group;
and

° The Group will send designated personnel to
conduct on-site surveys to monitor the service
providers’ performance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged with 2
suppliers of raw materials from Mainland China.
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B6. Product Responsibility
Product labelling, health and safety, and advertising were
not applicable due to the business nature of the Group.

6.1 Intellectual Property
Due to the business nature of the Group, there is no
policy on intellectual property rights protection.

6.2 Quality Assurance

While there were no business operations related to
coking, heating, or production during the Reporting
Period, the Group continues to guide the general
quality assurance and quality control processes. No
non-compliance outgoing products were reported
during the Reporting Period as strict measures were
taken to keep up with the quality of products during
the whole process of production.

Amongst all, to ensure quality of the production from
the beginning, all incoming supplies would be
examined before entering the plant. The laboratory
closely monitors parameters of key supplies of the
operations in terms of their quality, such as water
content, ash content, sulphur content, volatile matter
content of the raw coal. Sampling methods strictly
follow national standards such as GB482-1995,
GB481-93, and GB475-1996. Other national
standards would also be followed during quality
assurance and quality control processes, including
but not limited to:

° GB/T 4000-2008 Coke — Determination of
reactivity and strength after reaction;

° GB/T5447 — 2014 Determination of caking
index of bituminous coal;

° GB/T214 — 2007 Determination of sulphur in
coal,

o GB/T212 — 2008 Proximate analysis of coal,
and

° GB474 — 2008 Preparation of coal sample.
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RE #HERERHRSE

6.3

After quality checks, the supplies would be
distributed to different plants for different
productions according to their quality. At the end of
the production process, products would be
checked for quality again by the sales department.
Products that are not up to standard would be
arranged to be processed again to ensure the
quality of products sold to market.

Data Protection

The Group acknowledges the importance of
protecting the privacy and confidentiality of relevant
stakeholders. Therefore, various schemes are
constantly taken to prevent data leakage, and
misuse, or, abuse of customer sensitive information.
No non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to privacy matters had been
identified during the Reporting Period.

To prevent leakage of sensitive data from virus
attacks, several anti-virus protection practices are
taken. For example, security systems are updated
regularly, the latest version of Huawei firewall was
purchased and installed in 2019. The Group also
keeps an eye on alerts released by the market and
does assessments and audits with external
collaborators to look for bugs, suspicious activities,
or flaw in the security systems. On top of that, some
computers used are restricted in terms of the
application and software that they can download.

Data are also backed up every six hours to prevent
a loss of data in case of any hacking. To minimise
the chance of employee misconduct, leading to any
sensitive information being leaked out or used
improperly, such data is only accessible by a small
number of staff.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T

6.3

RmEREE RETANE
mmE BEEDEOEST
RN IHMETTIRNEE - #
EEBRERK HEXKH
RBREERHmE - THAF
ENEMBGRFRT - AR
ETTMEHENEMNRE

BB RE
AEBERHBRERB 5 HEE
THALBREENERN - F
o ARERHEETSRAR
VAT LE 8U80R 58 AR A 30B A
BEFBRER - RAREH - &
SEYEZFRRETHAKHE
BEEAYENEHLEEEN
MEDERFOERHER

BRTHESBREERERER
BERgR AKERRTET
Pim S RERE N - Plan - EHE
MEZE2RER R_ZE—HLFE
B MR K E R NE R &R
AR o N B T B JE T 5 B 1
BE . WHEIINBAIEELETH
EMEZ ASRLE2RERT
BVROR - A] &R B)EEREA © BRI
29 RAERNETERR
BT Al R E A AR AR AN

A SN D — R
KD LEASERERE
HE%-BTRERLBIT
1T BE R A R R
BATEEROBE  ZEB
RIS HETEH -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiIE - HEBRERRS

B7. Anti-corruption B7. RES

The Group requires that all employees shall conform to
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of the Laws of Hong
Kong, the Law Against Unfair Competition of the PRC,
Criminal Law of the PRC, and other laws, regulations and
regulatory documents related to commercial bribery. The
Group also has anti-corruption agreements with every
supplier they establish ties with. The Group’s Legal
Department continues to implement a monitoring system
to ensure zero tolerance of corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud, money laundering, and any other unlawful
activities. Whistle-blowers may either contact the Group’s
Legal Department to raise possible concerns or submit
their concerns via private reporting mailbox to protect
their anonymity. Furthermore, the Group has implemented
measures to protect whistle-blowers from retaliation or
adverse consequences of their employment.

The Group has not aided, abetted, assisted or colluded
with an individual who has committed, or conspired to
commit any unlawful activities. No non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to corruption, bribery, fraud
and money laundering had been identified during the
Reporting Period.

The Group recognises that anti-corruption training is
pivotal to raising employees’ awareness and maintaining
a culture of integrity throughout the Group. The Group
has carried out anti-corruption training to members of its
Board during the Reporting Period, which covered topics
such as business ethics, avoiding conflict-of-interest, and
anti-bribery. Employees also receive anti-corruption
training as part of their orientation and within their
Employee Handbook.
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B8. Community Investment
The Group strives to implement corporate social
responsibility and actively participates in public welfare
activities. When making contribution or donations, the
Group gives priority to the fields of education,
environmental protection, and labour demand.

Dealing with the disposal of GRG Huscoke (Shan Xi) Ltd,
the Group had not organised any charitable donations or
activities during the Reporting Period. The Group will find
ways in which it can utilise its resources and experience
to make contributions to society.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BUZEERE
T o
ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Huscoke Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 172,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2024, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31
March 2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
it is not possible for us to form an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of HK$35,732,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024
and had net current liabilities of approximately HK$337,091,000 as at
31 March 2024. Statutory demands from the major creditor for the
outstanding borrowing and interest were received on 11 December
2023 and 17 June 2024. Also, the Company has received a winding-
up petition filed against the Company by the major creditor. Further,
no revenue was generated from the new operating assets up to date,
which bring significant impacts on the Group’s operations. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the Group’s
ability to make the new operating assets in full operation on
schedule, the success in collecting debts from a debtor, the success
in delaying the payments by persuading its creditors of the Group
not to insist on demanding repayment before the full operation of the
Group’s new operating assets and the success in dismissing the
winding-up petition. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that would result from the failure to make
the new operating assets in full operation on schedule, to collect the
debts, to delay the repayments and to dismiss the winding-up
petition. We consider that the material uncertainty has been
adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
However, in view of the extent of the multiple uncertainties relating to
make the new operating assets in full operation on schedule, to
collect the debts, to delay the repayments and to dismiss the
winding-up petition, we disclaim our opinion in respect of the material
uncertainty relating to the going concern.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T

BERRERNER
HFEKEHBNEXRTREM
EERZIEZHFEAYBREWF2 EFIR
MREE T -_NME=ZA=+—HILF
F BEBESLE EQRMAARMGEIR
35,732,000 L WHRZFT-_WMF = A
—+—B#®AREAEFFEL 337,091,000
B BEEEN-_ZE-_=F+=-A+—
BERE-ZZE-NFNA++tHEEFEER
ABLAREEEREFENETERERZSE -
oh e BEARBWREIEZEEASHY &
ARREMEBREF -BE HZEB A
I IR EBEEREERA Y BE£HEH
ZEBERERFE HWEBABLRGE

e BEREHEERBELERIELE
RNREENERNTHEE M -

HAVBBRRDAFBELEELERE &
HERTERIRAR BEXEBREREEH
REEERPEERAEE EERWA
BEBAREEBAE EXREESKIE
HEBEATSRERR ESREAEHN
REBEZERALENMERMEERNK
UREEBRNBEERER KAV BR
RALEBREEARGEENELEEERY
EERALE WEER  HEERRE
HEREZFMIFLNEMNHAE - BFERAR
BEXATHEEMENREMBERRITEDWE -
A ERERCLEERAZHRAL
B HEER HEEERRBEERER
EHNZEITHEMNEE EF8EH
HEKENEATHELEBERER -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZRUARE

OTHER MATTERS

Had we not disclaimed our opinion in respect of the matters
described in the Basis of Disclaimer of Opinion section above, we
would otherwise have qualified our opinion in respect of the scope
limitations on our audit relating to the matters detailed below.

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position were
prepayments, deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$121,181,000 and HK$105,331,000 as at 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2023, respectively.

In relation to the aforesaid balances, compensation income of
approximately HK$22,416,000 was recognised for the year ended 31
March 2024, and impairment loss of approximately HK$34,316,000
and compensation income of approximately HK$41,367,000 were
recognised for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023,
respectively.

The management has taken legal action against debtor on settlement
of the aforesaid balances. In absence of the fulfillment on the agreed
repayment schedules under the mediation of local court and the
debtor is unable to provide supportive information to the Group for
recoverability of the aforesaid balances, the management considered
that there is uncertainty on recovering the aforesaid balances. The
management has applied execution against the debtor on the
balances through Intermediate People’s Court and High People’s
Court in Shanxi Province, the legal procedure is still in process,
hence no result from actions is available up to the date of this report
for justifying the extent of the recoverability of the aforesaid balances.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of aforesaid
balances as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023. There were no
other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to determine
whether the aforesaid impairment loss and compensation income for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and the fifteen months ended 31
March 2023, respectively, were properly recognised and the
aforesaid balances as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 were
fairly stated.
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Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group’s financial performance and cash
flows for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023 and the financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to
form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 28 August 2024

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T

HEXABTHEMARTEY &
BEHZEZE_FT-_NF=ZA=+—HIFEX
BE-_ T - =ZF=-A=+—HIt+HEA
M ERREBEEREUE BEEERS
T _WF=A=F+—BE=ZE=_=F=H
T+ BN BRI REAGES P BRE
PR EELETE -

EERGREUMBERAAREZER

ExARERBEER MR E((BEEE
SR A2 EAMBRSEARE
AR RMEP) 2 B 5 R E MR B A 5

RRVBEZHERNERE  AERE MK
BRZBETEFERNRFHERME
Bz EAERRA -

ERUGAMBRRN EEEARNT
& BEEREEEZEN LEEDE
RTRBRREEEEB I EE - RIS
EEEN EEEERLELEE L7
EHMERNERFTE SURARES
BE R -

RBMAERGREYBERRARENS
£

BENRMET EREBEB LGOS EM
MCEARBEED S EXENKREMB
BRETEZ - LHEZBERSE - AW
ERAREEEARTERNER| —HM
MW EIR  BEFEEIUZEFEAVBTRE
FERER -

REZEEAMASEMI(EEGSAE
TR (ATHEEISFAD  HABT
n BESE YEETTRAFHMEMESR

PERESHMEEMERAT
BESEED

e B

ERLZHEESE
WMEFEE5EP03614

BB —_E-_WMHENA-_+NH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEeEaRkRETERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
RZE——
BZ —H—H=ZE
—EMF —T-=F
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
LFE HAR
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
K ez FEx T
REVENUE WA 7 2,403 34,726
Cost of sales $HE A (2,400) (125,638)
Gross profit/(loss) EF(E8) 3 (90,912)
Compensation income AEWA 7 22,416 41,367
Other income and gains, net Hitn g A R as - JH 58 7 274 299,238
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR MK - 1,693,981
Selling and distribution costs SHE RO A A = (1,565)
Administrative expenses EREM (27,327) (114,007)
Finance costs B & A 8 (31,105) (157,108)
Other operating expenses, net HmgEMsy - F58 9 - (34,316)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX MREBEAT (B518) SRR 9 (35,739) 1,636,678
Income tax expense i8R 12 — (387,817)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/ REE B (BR), SR
PERIOD (35,739) 1,248,861
Other comprehensive expenses Hih2HEMAX
Items that may be reclassified HEHBAEES28E
subsequently to profit or loss, BECEB  BREE:
net of tax:
Exchange differences on translation BN EEE
of foreign operations: HBERE
Exchange differences arising on BINEBITEEE 2
translation of foreign operations HirZs (68,880) (11,571)
Reclassification of foreign currency HEME R RIRE
translation reserve upon disposal DERINERE B
of subsidiaries - (82,026)
Other comprehensive expenses for REE/HEEMEE
the year/period, net of tax ¥ BREi%E (68,880) (93,597)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE NEE HEEM@
(EXPENSES)/INCOME FOR THE (BA%) WEHBHE
YEAR/PERIOD (104,619) 1,155,264
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEBEEREERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
R _F
BZ —H—HZE
—E-E —E-=F
=A=+-H ZA=+—H
IEEE HA A
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mzt FER FHET
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/ iR FE HRE
PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO: (E8) &7
Owners of the Company PAN/NEIEZ ZSUN (35,732) 1,250,165
Non-controlling interests TR (7) (1,304)
(35,739) 1,248,861
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE BiEAEE HE2E
(EXPENSES)/INCOME FOR THE (BA) WEHBHE
YEAR/PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Owners of the Company RARER A (95,454) 1,155,600
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A (9,165) (336)
(104,619) 1,155,264
(LOSS)/PROFIT PER SHARE SR (BR), EF
Basic HAR 13 (HK$0.123#t)  HK$4.355 7T
Diluted g 13 (HK$0.127%8 7T) HK$4.358 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE MR R

At31 March 2024 A —Z-IE=HA=+—H

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-NE =4
=A=+—H =RA=+—8H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FET FHT
Non-Current Assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipments W - BE R 15 1,687,336 1,778,913
Financial assets at fair value through BEARERABRZ
profit or loss TREE 16 1,508 1,508
Total non-current assets FRBEELTE 1,688,844 1,780,421
Current Assets REEE
Trade receivables H 5 R 17 1,719 -
Prepayments, deposits and other TERIE - ke REM
receivables JE U AR X 18 134,174 129,064
Cash and bank balances He RIRITHET 20 2,448 601
Total current assets B EEHRE 138,341 129,665
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S ETIRN 21 1,715 =
Other payables, accruals and EMETERK - A
deposit received FIEREWIRS 22 109,017 59,199
Other borrowings Hibg & 23 218,188 218,188
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,402 2,717
Tax payable FHRRIIR 145,110 76,500
Total current liabilities REBAEARE 475,432 356,604
Net current liabilities REBEETFE (337,091) (226,939)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERABAE 1,351,753 1,553,482

ANNUAL REPORT 202324 5% 99



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE MR R

At31 March2024 R —Z - MFE=F=+—H

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-NE TR =4
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mzt FER FHET
Non-Current Liabilities FRBEE
Other payables, accruals and H b pETERRR - FERT
deposit received FIEREWIES 22 47,656 58,504
Lease liabilities HERE 24 1,370 -
Tax payable FHERIIR 217,664 305,996
Total non-current liabilities kFBEBEREE 266,690 364,500
Net assets EERE 1,085,063 1,188,982
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of RRREE AEIGIRHE
the Company
Share capital fi% s 25 29,037 28,707
Reserves e 27 887,576 982,660
916,613 1,011,367
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 28 168,450 177,615
Total equity A 1,085,063 1,188,982

R-ZE-_MENA -+ N\BHEKEESH 8
LR G YHTNNEERRESE

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
August 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick

B EE BEOBERE
Director Director
EE g
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = ==

—HE=ZA=+T-HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

2N T
Equity
attributable
Exchange Capital to owners Non-
Share Share  Contributed Special Other fluctuation  Statutory redemption Accumulated ofthe  controlling
capital  premium* surplus* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses*  Company interest Total
507
i:%: &x BEA
REx  ROEE SARS  KERE  EtEE  REER  tEE  BORE ZHEE BERE  FERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
AT T T T T TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
At 1January 2022 R-Z--%-F-H 28,707 346554 1,731,681 18,236 (10,354) 74515 9403 85 (2343060)  (144,233) (13859) (168,092
Profit{loss) for the period AEEER/ (5E) - - - = - - - - 1250165 1,250,165 (1304) 1248861
Other comprehensive rERERZE
(expenses)income (%) Wi
for the period:
Bxchange differenceson ~ ESNEBHERLL
translation of foreign RAEE
operations - - - - - (94,565) - - - (94,565) 968 (93,597)
Total comprehensive 18E2E(FR)
(expenses)income WHEE
for the period - - - - S (94565 - S 1250165 1155600 (33) 1,155,264
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARA - - - = 9788 = (9,409) = (385) = 14193 14193
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEEMBAE - - - - - - - - - - ATl ATIRN
At31 March 2023 e
=h=1-A 28,707 346554 1,731,681 18,236 (566) (20,050) - 85 (1093280) 1,011,367 177615 1188982
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=%4MA-A 28,707 346,554 1,731,681 18,236 (566) (20,050) - 8  (1,093280) 1,011,367 177615 1,188,982
Loss for the year TEREE - - - - - - - - (85732 (35732 M (35739
Other comprehensive expenses K EMZERY :
for the year:
Exchange differenceson SN EFITEEL L
translation of foreign RBER
operations - - - - - (59,722) - - - (59,722) (9,158) (68,880)
Total comprehensive T5E2E
expenses for the year AxieE - - - - - (59,722) - - (35,732) (95,454) (9,165)  (104,619)
Issuance of new shares Rk (it 2s)
(Note 25) 330 30 - - - - - - - 700 - 700
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE
=h=t-H 29,037 346924 1,731,681 18,236 (566) (79,772) - 8 (1129012 916,613 168,450 1,085,063
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the Sx EREBEREER T -_WF=A=14—

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024.

ZEREM BRI R AR E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
RZZE——
BZE —H—H=E
—E-NF T =F
=A=+-8 =A=+-8
LEFEE HARS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReExW
(Loss)/profit before tax BR&LAT (B518), @ 7 (35,739) 1,636,678
Adjustments for: FE
Finance costs B 75 & A 31,105 157,108
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEREHERR
and equipment (270) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB A RmkEs - (1,693,981)
Compensation income from contract B & £ EIA
with customer (22,416) (41,367)
Interest income FEHBA 1) (39,423)
Interest charged back to Jinyan AR EENBEBEER
Electricity related borrowing 28 - (90,331)
Imputed interest income of amount FET — AT B A B 5KI8
due to a former subsidiary ZAHEF S WA - (12,058)
Governments grant BB & = (5,214)
Depreciation of property, plant and M- HEREREITE
equipments 60 639
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,893 3,684
Loss allowance of prepayment, TERTFRIE - e REAMERK
deposits and other receivables, net BRNE B EE - 558 - 34,316
Equity-settled share-based payments LAz 45 B LARR (D 2 & E g 700 =
Amortisation on financial guarantee B EIRG #HH
contracts - (124,632)
Operating cash flows before working ~ &EESEBR 2 LERS
capital changes mE (23,668) (174,581)
Change in inventories GFE# - 2,938
Change in trade receivables B 5 e R (1,734) 346,380
Change in prepayments, deposits and B 7B « 124 & E b fE Ut
other receivables 3R SR 17,307 1,442
Change in trade payables B 5B ERE 1,730 (147,879)
Change in other payables, accruals HMEMAERR - B RIER
and deposits received B Uik & & 10,620 (29,908)
Net cash from/(used in) operations KEEL/(FTR)ZHSFH 4,255 (1,608)
Income taxes paid ERFrEH = =
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEREE (A2
operating activities ReRETFHE 4,255 (1,608)

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER A 7




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
RZE——
BZE —H—H=E
—E-_NE —EC-=F
=A=+-A ZA=+-—8
IEFE AR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHEIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REX
Purchases of property, plant and HBEME - BEREE
equipment - (63)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BB RE#H 2 K&
plant and equipment 270 -
Interest received B2UF & 1 2
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 ) ENG] = 1
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHE QT = (120)
Net cash from/(used in) investing REXBELE (A2
activities REeFHE 271 (180)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXK
Lease payments HERK (2,999) (5,329)
Net cash used in financing activities BEXBEFTFAZESFE (2,999) (5,329)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) ReRESEEY
IN CASH AND CASH ®in,/ CRd) B8
EQUIVALENTS 1,527 (7,117)
Cash and cash equivalents at F/ Nz RERREEEY
beginning of year/period 601 7,903
Effect of exchange rate changes on EXRSEFEIRNE R
cash and cash equivalents ReFEMowE 320 (185)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of F HIRZEERRESEEY
year/period 2,448 601
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCESOF RE&RBESEEBULRIN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be MBITER 2,448 601
Cash and cash equivalents atend of F HAZHERREZEY
year/period 2,448 601

ANNUAL REPORT 2023243 103



104

Bt RS SRR MY =

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Huscoke Holdings Limited was incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange. The registered office at the end
of the reporting year is located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda and the principal
office at the end of the reporting year is located at Room 3604-
05, 36/F., Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2024, the directors consider that the immediate
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Shun Wang
Investments Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin
Islands and Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, a director of the Company,
respectively.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) were involved in the following activities: (i) coke
trading business; (ii) coal-related ancillary business; and (iii)
coke production business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“‘HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated.

The current financial statements cover a twelve-month year
ended 31 March 2024 and the comparative financial
statements cover a fifteen-month period ended 31 March 2023
due to the change of financial year end date of the Company.
The comparative amounts are, therefore, not entirely
comparable.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M Z#ZERBER AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fae)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E —ZZ —UF=A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. RAERE)
Information about subsidiaries EBENEBLATRZER

ARAREEMBAR ZFHBWT

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share equity attributable
Name registration and business capital to the Company Principal activities
BERTEER ARAEERE
£ AT/ R ER S /A ot IEEH
Direct Indirect
E& 3
Rich Key Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US§1 100 - Investment holding
BECEERAT RERIEE /B 127 BAH
Pride Eagle Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US§1 - 100 Investment holding
HEREARAA LRRABR/BH %7 RERRK
Huscoke International Group Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Trading of coke
NEBREEARAA Bk/ER 1000077 BEER
Herong Resources Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Trading of coke
ARARARAA &4/ 5% 100007 EEER
Ocean Signal Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Assets holding
BHERAA &/ B 100007 AEHE
Wealth Guardian Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong USS1 100 - Investment holding
EHERERAR LRRABR/BH 1%7 RERRK
Good Guardian Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US§1 - 100 Investment holding
EERAARAA LRRABR/BH 1%7 RELRK
Fruitful International Investments Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investments
BEERRARRAA Bk/ER 10,0007 3
Joint Bloom Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US§1 100 - Investment holding
ARAEARAA LRRABR/BH E RERRK
True Tycoon Limited Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US§1 - 100 Investment holding
AT ERRE REES/ER 1%7 RERRK
Ample Lead Global Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US§1 100 - Investment holding
HERKBRAT LRRABR/BH E RERRK
Tycoon Path Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$100 - 100 Investment holding
FRREABRAT ERRABR/BH 100%7 RERRK
Huscoke Management Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
NEEEERAR Bk/ER 187 RERRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #E —ZZ —UF=A=+—HILFE

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

DNAEHR (&)
FENMBLARZER (&)

Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered share equity attributable
Name registration and business capital to the Company Principal activities
BERTEER ARARERE
£ AT/ RS /A Aot IEXH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Shanxi Huscoke International Energy The PRG/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Company Limited * (*Shanxi Huscoke")®
LENZEEERERAR ((LENE)e &/ FENY ARE RERR
10,000,0007C
Shanxi Jinyan Energy Jiarun Co., Ltd * The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 90  Coalrelated ancillary
(‘Energy Jiarun’)! business; coke production
and coke trading
LIS ERRERERALRR hE/PEN N RIGERNEXS
([eRE") 1,000,0007C EREERERES
Heroic Global Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US§1 - 100 Investment holding
BERRECEERAT LRRAEE/ B 1%7 RERRK
Bloom Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
AR EBRAT Bk/ER 187 RERRK
Notes: Btet -
For identification purposes only X5l
@ Shanxi Huscoke is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture company € WAEMZERNPEKIZZBINEGE
established in the PRC. BERA -
¢ Energy Jiarun is a limited liability company established in the 8 EREEANPRN L ZBREMS
PRC. NS

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the reporting period, or at anytime during the
reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the year and formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M Z#ZERBER AT

RBERRIR AR S HEMEME -
BENBAREEEAHERERZE
BES -

ERIEARBREETRAUAFER
BEEAR %&EKE.§§@E%
ARBDZARAMBERR - AR
ERA WﬁEMWE“ﬁZﬁ%%
LA RIEANIT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

PRESENTATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires the directors of the Company
(“Directors”) to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$35,732,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024
and had net current liabilities of approximately HK$337,091,000
as at 31 March 2024. Statutory demands from the major
creditor for certain alleged outstanding borrowing and interest
were received on 11 December 2023 and 17 June 2024. Also,
the Company has received a winding-up petition filed against
the Company by the major creditor. Further, no revenue was
generated from the new operating assets up to date, which
bring significant impacts on the Group’s operations. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends upon the Group’s ability to make the
new operating assets in full operation on schedule, the success
in collecting debts from a debtor, the success in delaying the
payments by persuading its creditors of the Group not to insist
on demanding repayment before the full operation of the
Group’s new operating assets and the success in seeking the
dismissal of the winding-up petition. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that would result
from the failure to make the new operating assets in full
operation on schedule, to collect the debts, to delay the
repayments and to seek the dismissal of the winding-up
petition.

3

2IRERERE

ZEFAMBHRRORRBRE B G
rE((BEREMAE ) BEH2EL
MRS E((EBUBREEN])
(BREMEBTEVBRELEN - FE
SETER ([FREEER ) M)
FREAR G RAREERBED
ZHRBRERE ZFHEAMHMEK
TVEELRAEGRE - ERARE
FABRSCERMEERANENE -

ERBBVMBREENRRE ST
WRAEA T BRE LA MEK
ApRER ((EE)) ERAE R
BIERELHE - P RBHERER
BHRERAEAZEZRE MM 2H
2 1)y 0 60 S P R 6 R AR -

HE—_ZT-_NME=ZA=+—HILFE
REBEEARRRIHE ABLEBAE
35,732,000 T W _WF=H
T+t BN RBDEEBETFREOR
337,091,000 L - A EBERZ=ZZ
Z=F+ZAT—HEZZEZWNEAR
At+tHEETEZEBREARETER
REBERRFBHETEZEK o o -
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TFEARSASEBEEFEKCE
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BRINREFEAKRBER NEBEES
M BREEANGRERAEEER
MEEEESMTAEENE N
B UREGKIN S KBS
EF REVBEMRILERIEAER
R FHCLEEERP2EIGAEE
WEER  HEERESRKEHEER
EFMELHEMAE -
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PRESENTATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and are of the opinion that the Group will
be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future, and accordingly, are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis.

For details of the winding-up petition, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 2 August 2024 and 8 August
2024.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
April 2023. HKFRSs comprise HKFRS; HKAS; and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior
period/years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new
HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M Z#ZERBER AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated exchange fluctuation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the period between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

110

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition
is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and
contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share
of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the
Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is
added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive
income (for example, equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income), the amount that was recognised
in other comprehensive income is recognised on the same
basis as would be required if the previously held equity interest
were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment
losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated
in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Group’s presentation currency and the functional
currency of the Company. The functional currency of the
principal operating subsidiaries of the Group is Renminbi
(“RMB”).

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on a
non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency are translated into the Group’s
presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the exchange fluctuation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:

Building 30 years
Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms
Furnaces and infrastructure 25 years
Plant and machinery 8 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending for installation,
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to write
off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
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lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are FERFEAFHAT
as follows:
Land and buildings 2-10 years T REF 2-104F

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease
payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the lease
payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease
if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair value
through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets at amortised cost; and

Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised
cost and the conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss are net of any interest income and dividend
income. Interest income and dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

—  past due information

— nature of instrument

— nature of collateral

— industry of debtors

— geographical location of debtors

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

— Information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

— there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial assets has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(iy it has alow risk of default;

(i)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(i) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(iii)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(iv) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(vi) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for
a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at the
higher of:

— the loss allowance; and

— the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in profit or loss over the terms of
the guarantee contracts.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the
grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
installments.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws
that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be
satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance
obligation is satisfied over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the product or service.

EXRETHEE)

BB E

B 48 B 4 70 AT A 32 30 B E A% & UER
MREA ST AMAN S RERRAR
EFER - AR RFXER - AlE
RAFEREEZR/EA  EZHEUE

R SR AR R AR - &
ZMMEEERME - R ETIRE
RIEEWARS - WARENFED
HEHREBMEENTRERFHR
AJEES o

EFEHBA

WASEZEREBENREP AT

PAZREE BTEERARE=S

WER 2 FRIR » LR PN SR B RS A

EndRF Bz HEEB—FNA

wmE REAREABEEKED
FEELAE-

AR B E B K IHE m kRS 215
HEEBETPMERENE ERE
BA - BFANGERRZANER
AR BHE R BER MR E
R EDER - AT S L TR BROE
E/ARERS FE K

— REPARBERIRERAKERE
KRR 2 F2s

— AEEBHELNILER —BER
EESEREATEEHZE
E %

— ARERAOYEELBAEH
mMEABERBEZEE AX
SEHECTTER ZBEONKE
BRIAITHER -

WENBEREREER  WA2EZE
RZBEAEEZERER  BAMWA
AR P RS EE am S AR 7 2 428 1l 4 s

X7
e

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24 3% 121



122

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Sale of medium coal, coke and by-products are recognised at
a point of time at which the customer obtains the control of the
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when
the goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Sale of electricity and heat are recognised at a point of time
when they are transferred to the customers.

Other revenue

Compensation income is recognised when the right to receive
payment has been established.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Share-based payments transactions

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension schemes

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.
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e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset.
The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing
costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are
outstanding during the year, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
year.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax for such investment properties are measured
based on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A)

(B)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

The entity and the entities comprising the Group are
members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fae)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE =%

4.

Bt RS SRR MY =
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(B) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
investments, inventories and receivables to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
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Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained earnings within the equity
section of the consolidated statement of financial position, until
they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the Directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the factors described in note 2.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Depreciation

The Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful lives, commencing from the
date the property, plant and equipment are ready for their
intended use. The estimated useful life reflects the
management’s estimate of the periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of
the property, plant and equipment. The depreciation will
be changed when the useful life is expected to be
different from the estimate and would affect profit or loss
for the period in which such change of estimate takes
place.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the present value of
estimated future cash flows. Where the future cash flows
are less than expected or there are unfavourable events
and change in facts and circumstance which result in
revision of future estimate cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance
for financial assets at amortised cost including trade
receivables, amount due from non-controlling shareholder
and deposits and other receivables, by using various
inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and
expected loss rate. The estimation involves high degree
of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, recoverable amount of collateral, past
collection history of debtors, concentration risk of debtors,
the Group’s actual loss experience, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying amount of the financial assets at
amortised cost. Details of the key assumption and inputs
used in estimating ECL are set out in note 34(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
the following reportable operating segments:

(a) the coke trading segment — purchases and sales of coke
and coal,

(b) the coal-related ancillary segment — washing of raw coal
into refined coal for sale and for further processing, and
sale of electricity and heat which are generated as the
by-products during the washing of raw coal; and

(c) the coke production segment — processing of refined
coal into coke for sales, and sale of coke by-products that
are generated during coke production.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment (loss)/profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit
before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that
interest income, unallocated other income, corporate and
administrative expenses, other operating income, finance costs
and income tax expense are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and bank balances, restricted
bank deposits, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, other unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other borrowings, lease liabilities,
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted at cost plus a
certain percentage of mark-up.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued) 6.
Segment revenue and results

TEBAREE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-ZE-_NFE=ZA=+—HLEE

Coke  Coal-related Coke
trading ancillary production  Eliminations Total
ExEs BrAEKHE EREE o @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL THERL TR TERL THERL
Segment revenue: PEEA
— external sale —HOMEE 2,403 - - - 2,403
Total @t 2,403 - - - 2,403
Segment results TEEE 3 - - - 3
Unallocated other income RAREMBEA 274
Compensation income HERA 22,416
Corporate administrative NRERER (M)
expenses (Note) (27,327)
Finance costs UHER (31,105)
Loss before tax BRAEE (35,739)
Income tax expense FEHAY -
Loss for the year TEEER (35,739)
Corporate
Coke  Coal-related Coke and
trading ancillary production unallocated Total
ExEs BrAEKHE EREE DARRIE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T TR T TR
Segment assets PHEE - - 1,684,584 142,601 1,827,185
Segment liabilities FEEE - - - 742,122 742,122
Other segment information: HitpEER
Additions of property, RENE BER
plant and equipment B - - - 2,959 2,959
Depreciation & - - - 2,953 2,953

ANNUAL REPORT 2023-24%53% 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued) 6. REBHE\EW(H)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PHEBAREE(E
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 BE-_ZE_—F=-A=+—HLTH
& A
Coke  Coal-related Coke
trading ancillary production  Eliminations Total
EREH BREENE EREE bafsl Fe

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TRR TAT TAT

Segment revenue: PERA:

— external sale — HSMAE - 34,726 - - 34,726
Other income Bt - 28,336 - - 28,336
Total @zt - 63,062 - - 63,062
Segment results PEEE = (64,141) = = (64,141)
Unallocated other income RABEMIKA 4,460
Compensation income HERA 41,367
Interest income arising in B th RS E A

other receivables MEWA 129752
Imputed interest income of amount R —ERBAR

due to a former subsidiary FHEEEFEHRA 12,058
Amortisation on financial guarantee contracts BT 1E/RA 418 124,632
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBLAR 2 Kz 1,693,981
Impairment loss for prepayments, BUFE - KeRhEf

deposits and other receivables YRR ERE (34,316)
Corporate administrative expenses (Note) ~ ARIEEER (ffi) (114,007)
Finance costs HBEBR (157,108)
Profit before tax B BATE R 1,636,678
Income tax expense RS (387,817)
Profit for the period RERELEN 1,248,861

I
Corporate
Coke  Coal-related Coke and
trading ancillary production  unallocated Total
ExES BREEME EREE RARKAE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T THT TR T
Segment assets TEEE - - 1,776,167 133,919 1,910,086
Segment liabilities PEEE - - = 721,104 721,104
Other segment information: A2 EER:

Additions of property, plant and equipment  FEWE - BFE LR - = 1,776,167 5,835 1782,002
Depreciation ik - - = 4323 4,323
Note: Unallocated corporate administrative expenses mainly include Wit KRB RRERERT EEIENA]
corporate’s staff cost and Directors’ remuneration, legal and WEITHKAREFZFH EERE
professional fee, PRC local tax and depreciation of unallocated FEA - PR BIEN RS

property, plant and equipment. M BERBREOTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is all
derived from the PRC. The revenue information is based
on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

RESWER (E)

& &

(a) KENFBEFZHUA
2iEERE  WAZBIR
BFRE - RAEBHTDIREEP
Preesh &l o

(b) FRBEE

31 March 31 March

2024 2023

—ENE —E=F

=A=+—H =RA=+—8H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Hong Kong aBE 2,752 2,746
The PRC H B 1,684,584 1,776,167
1,687,336 1,778,913

The non-current asset information is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenues from external customers individually contributing

BRERBDEEENIIRIESE
EfEtRE s BTEESR
BTAMELERBREE -

EBETEEFZ2ER
BHERAEB AR A 10% 38 A £/

10% or more of the total revenue from the Group are as follows: INBEP ZWAIBRAT ¢
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
RZE_Z
BZ —A—A=%
—ESE-ME =
=A=+—H =RA=+—8H
LFE HA A
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Customer A BEFA N/A 738 FA * 20,836
Customer B ZFB 1,533 N/A i3 A
Customer C EFC 870 N/A 38 A

These customers did not individually contribute 10% or more of
the total revenue from Group in the year ended 31 March 2024
or the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023.

* ZEEXFREF T _ME=H
=t —HIFERBE —F=—=4F
ZA=+—Hi+REEAIFES
BBt A EFAE AR 10% B L -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE, COMPENSATION INCOME, OTHER INCOME 7. WA - \EWKA - Httg AR KE -
AND GAINS, NET R

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WABAFE HHEBEEEMZF
allowances for returns and trade discounts, and the value of BEEENRERERBERZ ST
services rendered during the year/period. An analysis of RERB 2 EE - WA FHERAR

revenue, compensation income and other income and gains, HM AR FEZTAT
net are as follows:
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
RZZE——
BZE —H—HZE
—E-E —E=F
=A=+—H =A=+—8H
IEFE HA ]
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Revenue WA
Sales of electricity and heat HES R - 34,726
Sales of medium coal and coke fHE R EME R 2,403 =
2,403 34,726
The revenue is recognised at a point in time. W AR 8 — 5 R ZHFERR ©
Compensation income (Note a) HEWA (Kfsta) 22,416 41,367
Other income and gains, net HtW AR @ F8E
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R HFEWA 1 2
Interest income from the non-controlling —EM B AR FEIERAR R
shareholder of a subsidiary 2 BUA - 39,421
Interest charged back to Jinyan FASEENHEBEEZ
Electricity related borrowing (Note b) FE (KHaEb) - 90,331
Imputed interest income of amount FERT— R BTM B A R 5IR
due to a former subsidiary ZAHEF B A - 12,058
Governments grant (Note c) BB e (Watc) - 28,336
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BE K
plant and equipment Bl 270 =
Sundry income MIEWA 3 4,458
Amortisation on financial guarantee MR A A
contracts - 124,632
274 299,238
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

*

REVENUE, COMPENSATION INCOME, OTHER INCOME
AND GAINS, NET (Continued)

Notes:

(a) In 2019, the Group paid a trade deposit of US$22,000,000 to
Shanxi Jinyan Energy Technology Company Limited* (1L 7o &
BEREIF B[R 2 A]) (“Energy Technology”) for the coke trading
business. However, due to the downtrend of international coke
price, both parties agreed to terminate the plan and Energy
Technology agreed to refund such trade deposit by instalment
with compensation to the Group. Upon the completion of the
acquisition of a new subsidiary, Shanxi Jinyan Energy Jiarun Co.,
Ltd* (L) 78 & & BEJF 5= B A IR & £ 22 &]) (“Energy Jiarun”), on
18 January 2023, Energy Technology became a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group at 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2023.

(b)  For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, the interests were
derived from the unrecorded loans and the relevant accrued
interests in relation to the incident caused by Xiaoyi Jinyan
Electricity Coke Chemical Company Limited* (Z#& % & & 11/%
1t T & R 2~ &]) (“Jinyan Electricity”), being the 9% minority
shareholder of GRG Huscoke (Shanxi) Limited* (11| 7 & & 52 6€
JEAIR 2 7]) ("GRG Huscoke”) (the “Incident’). Details of which
are set out in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2020 and the Company’s announcement dated 18
January 2022 and 26 May 2022.

(c)  For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, government grant
have been received for supplying heat in the PRC. There are no
untulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

For identification purpose only

*

WA - FEERA - HaBARKE -
BE(E)
HEE

(a) R-ZF—NF FEBGEKRE
EREEI S HERFIEBR A A
(TEEFRRE]) THE S
22,000,000 % 7T ° #A if7 + B 10 B B
FEREE T E5RIE&IEE
BER BB [F] & ) 7N 52 (8] 75 B R 6] 5
BESEcERBE RZF==
F—A+NH TR E RN
BARRlLASEREREEERE T
Nal ([BERZER]) # - BEIRFIER
—E-_MFEF=A=1+—HAEk=-F
C=F=ZA=+—HEKABAER—
B 2 Al a9 FEFERR AR R -

(b) BE-ZT-_=#F=H=+—HIF
+HEA FIEFRREEHEZET L
EENRIETER A A (258
B BB L P22 s BE R B IR
DAl ([£EFME]) 9% BRI ) R
R)EBHEFEM ([ZEH]) BRAR
EXREHEFE - BEFIEH
RARGBE=ZFT=-_FF+=A
=t —HIEFERNFHERARAGH
HWE-_FT-——F—HA+NHAE=F
ZZFRAZF NS -

(c) BE-—FT-_=F=ZA=+—HIF
+AHEA - BBt A B E YK

% - BEBHZEENZ R
ER I AER -

E Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HMKEH
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
RZZE——
BZE —H—HZE
—E-mE T =%
=A=+-—H =A=+—8
LFE HAR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHIT
Interest expenses on other borrowings HEmEEFERAX 28,352 35,917
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBGEZFERX 95 702
Imputed interest expenses on amount FET — R AT B & B 5KI8
due to a former subsidiary ZEEF B 2,658 1,854
Interest expenses on Jinyan Electricity TEBNIEBEE
related borrowing FMERX - 114,545
Interest expenses on other payables HEMEMBERZAERZ - 4,090
31,105 157,108
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. BBLA(FR),HF
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBMzEBN (BER)EF N
(crediting): B (GTA) T3 &IE®REH -
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
N-_E—-——
BZE —A—B=z
—E-ME TEC=F
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
IEFE BRI
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration % ELRD BN & 950 1,000
Cost of inventories FERA 2,400 125,638
Depreciation e
— Owned —BA 60 639
— Right-of-use assets — PREEE 2,893 3,684
Employee benefit expense BERAMX
(including Director’s remuneration): (RREESEME) :
— Wages and salaries —TITE&KH® 9,891 31,923
— Pension scheme contributions (Note a) — iR IK18 K52 5%
(Hista) 370 6,895
Total employee benefit expenses EEBARZEE 10,261 38,818
Gain on disposal of property, HEWME  WERE#HZ
plant and equipment & (270) =
Provision of loss allowance of A RIE - HBe REAMER
prepayments, deposits and ERBERE
other receivables, net (Note b) R (M aEb) - 34,316
Notes: BtaE
(a) As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Group had no (a) R-FE-_WE=ZF=+—HEK=-F
forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the Z=F=ZA=+—H FXEBWE
pension schemes in future years. A] FB 1E HI3 7R 2 J2 AR (K 48 Fil 51 2
e B0 -
(b)  For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023, this balance was (b)) BEE—_ZFE-_=ZF=ZH=+—HIF
included in “Other operating expenses, net’ in the consolidated +HEBEA - B AFRE B (B
profit or loss. ASEFST - JFEEIA o

ANNUAL REPORT 202324 3% 137



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 10. EEM<E
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the B EMBR - BAERFBGIE
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong 383(1)(a) * (b) * (c) R (H{& XA &) (3
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BEEMNRER) ROE2EHWE A
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) FEESEHFMOT :

Regulation, is as follows:

Period from

Year ended 1 January 2022

31 March to 31 March

2024 2023

N-_E-—%F

B=E —H—HB=®

—E-NF —EZ=F

=A=+-—H =A=+—H

ILEE HA

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Fees e 3,446 4,335
Other emoluments: HAin i -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &% - 284 & B WiE A 3,096 3,989

Pension scheme contributions RIKEFIFT B3R 36 46

3,132 4,035

6,578 8,370
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

10.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

10. EEM< (&)
BE-—E-NE=A=+—HLEE

Salaries and Pension
allowances and scheme Total
Fees benefitinkind  contributions  remuneration
e BER REEA
ok ENEAN HE g
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FEL FEL TET THET
Executive directors HTES
Zhao Xu Guang B 780 3,096 18 3,894
Wang Yijun IEE 984 - 18 1,002
1,764 3,096 36 4,896
Non-executive directors FHTES
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick DR 276 - - 276
Huang Man Yem BEXE 276 - - 276
Jiang Jiansheng ZRE 360 - - 360
Tang Ching Fai BiEE 230 - - 230
1,142 - - 1,142
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
To Wing Tim, Paddy KR 180 - - 180
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie WE I 180 - - 180
Wang Wei Hsin THH 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
Total @t 3,446 3,096 36 6,578
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 10. EEEE (&)
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023 BEZZ_=%=A=+—HItTH
& A
Salaries and Pension
allowances and scheme Total

Fees  benefitin kind contributions remuneration

e Y EREH

e ENEn SRR ekl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TAT TR
Executive directors HTES
Zhao Xu Guang ficH 1,040 4,013 23 5,076
Wang Yijun I5E 1,230 - 23 1,253
2,270 4,013 46 6,329
Non-executive directors FHTES
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick BB 345 - - 345
Huang Man Yem BXE 345 - - 345
Jiang Jiansheng ZRE 450 - - 450
Tang Ching Fai* BeAbE~ 272 - - 272
1,412 - - 1,412
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
To Wing Tim, Paddy KR 225 = S 225
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MEH 225 = = 225
Wang Wei Hsin T#3 225 = S 225
675 - - 675
Total @t 4,357 4,013 46 8,416
* appointed on 6 April 2022 * RZFE-Z—FPHNAEZT
During the year ended 31 March 2024 and the fifteen months HE_Z-_WME=A=+—HIEFE
ended 31 March 2023, no emolument of any director was Bz _=ZF=ZA=+—81
waived or agreed to waive and no emolument was paid by the ThEA HEEFHEXRAENE
Group to any director as an inducement to join or upon joining FAME  MAEERERERNES
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. S A e ERE B INA RSB

AR B 2 52 R) o BER A 18 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

11.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 1. EBBEHFAL
The five highest paid individuals during the year included two REEZREHRRTATBREREE
Directors (2023: two), details of whose remuneration are set out FE(ZEZ=F:WB)  HFHMWFE
in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the R EXMFE10 REEHRT =R (=
remaining three (2023: three) highest paid individuals are as T =F =R EaHF AT ZFHH
follows: FEIBIT
Period from
Year ended 1 January 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
R-ZZTE——
8% —H—B=
—E-—NE —EC=F
=A=+-—-H =ZA=t+—H
ItEE EAfA
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEx FHEIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 2B R EWEF) 1,442 2,401
Pension scheme contributions RIRAEFIFT B K 54 66
1,496 2,467

The emoluments of the individual fall with the following bands is
as follows:

FEMAF TSR AT :

Number of employees

EE"AR

Period from

Year ended 1 January 2022

31 March to 31 March

2024 2023

N-ZE——

8= —H—B=®

—E-NE —E=%F

=A=+—H =A=+—8

IEEE HA

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 &L E

1,500,000 7T = 1

8 3

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023, no emolument was paid by the Group
to any of the above three (2023: three) highest paid individual
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

BE-_ZT-_NWE=-ZA=+—HILFE
kBE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HIt
+EMBEA  AEEGERTH R =
F(CE-=ZF :ZR)BReFALtx
TR BN 1E & BB il A AN 52 [ 3k
AREE R HE) BB E -
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AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as there were
no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and the fifteen months ended 31 March
2023.

The income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC is
calculated at the applicable tax rates of 25% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices.

FrEfimx

AR BB EERTEN R EE
—E_NFE=ZA=+—HULFERE
AT -_ZF=ZA=+—HILTEHRE
BRI ESE SRS #E -

5 B ok B 75 2 B8 BB T DA BT
WA RERIEO AR 28
ARG [ AR B 2 25% 18 A B
EHE -

Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
MR-T__F
BZE —H—B=
—E-mE —E-=F
=A=+-—H =A=+—8H
IEFEE S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT T
Current — Hong Kong BVHR — &% = =
Current — The PRC BER —
Provision for the year/period RNEE HABER - 387,817
- 387,817
Deferred tax expenses NEE/HRIELER B
for the year/period fl % - =
- 387,817

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-—E-NE=A=1+—HLEE

Hong Kong The PRC Total

BA HE st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FTERT FER TET

Loss before tax B 750 Al S 48 (35,671) (68) (35,739)

Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEFELBE (5,886) (17) (5,903)
Tax effect of income not taxable BARTE A R

and expenses not deductible SEEaL: ol b
HBTE 5,886 17 5,903
Tax expense BB - - -
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Fae)

B RS RAR MY =

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2023

12, FiEEEX (&)

HEZZ_=%F=A=+—HItTH
& A

Hong Kong The PRC Total

&% FE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET

Profit before tax BR B A% A 122,565 1,514,113 1,636,678

Tax at the statutory tax rate BEERETE 2FIR 20,223 378,528 398,751
Tax effect of income not taxable and BARBTARA R
expenses not deductible TR AT 2

Mg E (20,223) 9,289 (10,934)

Tax expense BB - 387,817 387,817

Undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding tax on dividends distributable by
the subsidiary established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

No deferred tax liability has been provided as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 20283.

Loss available for offsetting against future taxable
profits

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$32,658,000
(2023: HK34,936,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these tax losses as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the above amounts can
be utilised.

P Y B R Y R 2 ELE A

BIEREPZERBHRE  RAREARH
RSN I A (R IMEE B AT
FIRAOREBRMI0%TENT - H
HER _ZEZNF—HA—BREAR
YEAR-_ZTZELF+=_A=+—H
BB EF] o fiw o B i B E NG E
EHEWRERERE R LA IRAY - Bl AT A
EEREMENHRE - AEBE/ERA
MEAE10% - AL NEBEARRF
BETHMNB AR _ZEZENFE—A
—BREENEFM DRSS
TEINHL -

R-E-_WFEF=ZA=+—HBEK_-Z
T=HF=ZRA=+—H UERELTH
TH 8 EEH B -

AT 46 85 R SR PE SR BLE R B 18

REBREEELENHREEEBS
32,658,000 L (ZE ==& :
34,936,000/ 7T) + A MR AR K H &=
HEBEMNARIRRRERTGEF o

WL El R IAE R ERELEHEE

E ASAKERSTKRAIEAER
BN B A LS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —NFE=A=+—HILFE

13.

14.

(LOSS)/PROFIT PER SHARE
Basic (loss)/profit per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/profit per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$35,732,000 (2023: profit for the period of approximately
HK$1,250,165,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 289,895,093 (2023: 287,071,349) in issue
during the year.

Diluted (loss)/profit per share

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 March 2024 and the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2023 and, therefore, the diluted (loss)/profit
per share is the same as basic (loss)/profit per share for the
year/period.

DIVIDEND

The board of Directors does not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% BERKRE

Other
properties
leased for
own use
carried Leasehold  Furnaces and Plant and Computer Furniture Motor  Construction
Building atcost improvement infrastructure  machinery  equipment  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
REKSI R
HERERZ
BT Az RENEZR  BMRER  BRREE EHRE  GAR%E g fRIE Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TéR TER TEn TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
Cost HA
At1 January 2022 RZZZZ%-F-A 383,823 20,381 1653 544,655 640,813 77,368 40 23816 - 1692919
Additions #E - 5112 - - - 63 - - - 5835
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEHBA R - - - - - - - - 1,776,167 1,776,167
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ EEHEAR (357,513) (9,669) - (507,321) (596,887) (72,085) - (18,701) - (1,562,156)
Transfer 23 = (0977) = = - - - - - (9077)
Exchange realignment EXRE (26,310) (734) - (37,334) (43,926) (5,303) - (1,376) - (114,983)
At 31 March 2023 and
1 April 2023
- 5,713 1,653 - - 63 40 3,739 1,776,167 1,787,805
Addtions - 2,959 - - - - - - - 2,959
Disposal - - - - - - - (644) - (644)
Transfer £ - (5,773) - - - - - - - (5,773)
Exchange realignment ~ ER ¥ - - - - - - - - (91,583) (91,583)
At 31 March 2024 i k3
=R=t-8 - 2,959 1,653 - - 63 40 3,09 1,684,584 1,692,764
Accumulated depreciation it {7 &R HE
and impairment
At1 January 2022 RZZZZ£-F-H 383823 19,823 1653 544,655 640813 77,368 3 2177 - 1691685
Chargefortheperiod ~ ABRER - 3684 - - - % 4 600 = 433
Written back on disposal  HERBAFEHE
of subsidiaries (357,513) (9,669) - (507,321) (596,887) (72,065) - (18,701) - (1,562,156)
Transfer - (9977 - - - (29 29 - - (9977)
Exchange realignment (26,310) (734) - (37,334) (43,926) (5,303) - (1,376) - (114,983)
At 31 March 2023 and
1 April 2023
“TCZEMR-A - 3,127 1,653 - - 6 406 3,700 - 8,892
Charge for the year KEETH - 2,893 - - - 19 2 39 - 2,953
Disposal HE - - - - - - - (644) - (644)
Transfer EE - (5,773) - - - - - - - (5,773)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-ME=R
=t-A - u47 1,653 - - 25 408 3,09 - 5,428
Cartying amount A
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=R
=1-H - 2,712 - - - 38 2 - 1,684,584 1,687,336
At 31 March 2023 RZFZZ%=4
=+-A - 2,646 - - - 57 4 3 1,776,167 1778913
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

Disclosures of lease-related items:

EHEEE

HEREEENRE -

15. ¥ BERRKRE (E)

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHETT
Land and buildings T RETF 2,712 2,646
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
WZE——
B=E —H—HB=Z®
—E-NE —E-=%F
=A=+—H =A=+—H
IEEE HA
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEE 2 ESH
— Land and buildings — T REF 2,893 3,684
Lease interests HEF S 95 702
Total cash outflow for leases HERS AL 2,999 5,329
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,959 5,772

AEEHERELMERE Tk
By HEWRIBEETHRABE /2
F-HEGRREERNEREE  EF
BE BB EER &G - HE W H
BAEMEMRE  BHEEETRE
REEE ZEME

The Group leases various land use rights, land and buildings.
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

16.

17.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 16. REAABEFABRZEMEE

OR LOSS
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E_\F —E=F
=ZA=+-—H =HA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Private club debenture — fair value FAEHES —RER
measured at quoted price in active market TS REFE 2 ANE 1,508 1,508
Detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement of FHBEZARBHEEEZHAE
the items above are set out in note 33 to the consolidated BER R A IR R W E33 -

financial statements.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

17. EZEBWERN

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-mE —TE-=fF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Trade receivables: BRI
— third parties —B=x 975 -
— non-controlling shareholder of — — AW B2 a FEER
a subsidiary (Note 19) AR =R (BtaE 19) 744 =
1,719 -
Less: loss allowance W EiERE - =
1,719 -
Less: Current portion B, - BNEREL (1,719) =
Non-current portion FERNEREL = =
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of loss RBEF R HEZAHEHZ
allowance) by invoice date at the end of the reporting year/ B SRR (R B EEE) 2R
period is as follows: DWAT -
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-ME =
=B=+—H =A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Within 3 months =EARARA 1,719 =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for trade receivables are set out in note 34(b) to the

consolidated financial statements.

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18.

17. EZEWERFR (&)
EEAEERGENEERRKE SE
WEE R ES B B B B R E R 4r A B 7%

R M FE34(b) -

ANRE - REREMERIRR

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
ZA=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Prepayments, deposits and other FEWE =7 2 BRI HIE -
receivables due from third parties 1Be R H b EUR X 26,090 25,699
Trade deposits and other receivables R ESEe R
from Energy Technology (Note 19) H AW AR (A7 19) 166,398 161,679
Less: Loss allowance B R (58,314) (58,314)
134,174 129,064
Less: Current portion A BIERER & (134,174) (129,064)

Non-current portion

19. AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING

SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

FERNEAER 7 =

19. BB QR FEZERKRRAKIR

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—EWF —To=F
=ZA=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Trade receivables (Note 17) B SRR (e 17)
(Note a) (Hiita) 744 =
Trade deposits and other receivables EREIRZE SRS R
from Energy Technology (Note 18) H At FE W AR 5K (B2t 18) 132,082 127,363
132,826 127,363
Less: Current portion A BIEREL (132,826) (127,363)
Non-current portion FERNEREL - -
Note: BteE -
(a)  The balances are trade in nature and non-interest-bearing. (a) HEHBXZMERTIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. HERBRTERE
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-OmF —T=F
=ZA=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHEIT
Cash and bank balances B MRITHET 2,448 601
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITRSEERETARTFERFER
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for TF B R BRELA B, o 1R T AR B BB
varying periods of between one day and three months ReFXRK - FHNF—BHE=@EHAT
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, FEHERMESTEAED  LiksaE
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit HATE BAE BCOF) R BRERF B - RI1THTF
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy GREDHITEENELNERATS
banks with no recent history of default. HYERTT ©
21. TRADE PAYABLES 21. ESEMNERRK
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the REF R HEZAHAEZ
reporting year/period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BIRNEBER IR DT
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-NE =4
=ZA=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Within 3 months =EAR 1,715 -
22. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS 22, HihEMKRMN Bt HIE - B KR
RECEIVED AND DEFERRED INCOME ERIEE WA
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—EBoNmEF —E=F
=ZA=+-—H ==~
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHIT
Other payables and accrued charges HtERBERKRETER 23,347 12,348
Interest payable FEASFIE 75,203 46,851
Amount due to a former subsidiary FE — I AR B A RISRIE 58,123 58,504
156,673 117,703
Less: Current portion A BIEREL (109,017) (59,199)
Non-current portion JEBNEAER 7 47,656 58,504
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

23. OTHER BORROWINGS

23. HMEE

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
ZE-ME=R=1+-H “E-=F=ZA=1+-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BIRFIZE (%) HE FHET  BEENE%) Bk FET
Unsecured other borrowings BEREMEES On demand On demand
(Note a) (Wfta) 12% RER 200,000 12% REX 200,000
Unsecured other borrowings BEAEMEE
(Note b) (Bi##b) 0% 2020 18,188 0% 2020 18,188
218,188 218,188
218,188 218,188
Analysed into: A
Within 12 months TZEAR
or on demand BEEX 218,188 218,188
218,188 218,188
Notes: Hiat -
(a)  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the lender and the (a) BE=ZF=-——F+=ZA=+—HIF

(b)

Group entered into memorandum of understanding on the
default interest payment. According to memorandum of
understanding, the event of default was removed upon the
settlement of outstanding interest and default interest on 23
March 2021. Thus, the maturity date of the Group’s other
borrowing of HK$200,000,000 is in 2022. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the Group has failed to make its contractual
principal and interest payment of its other borrowing of
HK$200,000,000, which maturity date is in 2022. The lender has
requested immediate payment on the borrowing and accrued
interest.

At 31 March 2024, included in other borrowings were loans from
a former Director, who resigned on 7 September 2018, of
HK$1,751,000 (2023: HK$1,751,000) and a Director of GRG
Huscoke of HK$3,195,000 (2023: HK$3,195,000).
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(b)

FEBHARKEBG X FE
K ET I GRAR T 87 - IRIEFR AR 1B
i EHMEMR -_FE-—F=H
ZF = HBEBERNFIERELFE
BWEH - FuUt A EFEMEER
200,000,000 TR Z=ZF = Z4F 5
H - REF-_E_-_mME=F=+—
HIFFE FEBRESHEMBE
E200,000,000/& T894 #9782 K FI
B ZEER-FE - —FFH -
BEXAERTASHHEE REFIE -
RZF-ZWF=A=+—H Ef
EBEBE—FZHTERE(R=-F—N
FILA+HEEF) ZEH 1,751,000
B (ZF - =4 :1,751,000% )
ket BNEZE —EFEFZEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES

24.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting year/

period:

At 31 March 2024

Minimum lease

HERE

TRIFAEBMPRREF BRZHE

R-ZE-WMFE=ZA=+—8

payments Interest Present value

BREEE MK FE BE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET

Not later than one year —F 2R 1,518 (116) 1,402
Later than one year and BER—FETER

not later than two years M 1,400 (30) 1,370

2,918 (146) 2,772

At 31 March 2023

Minimum lease

R-TE_=F=R=+—H

payments Interest Present value
SEBAERNK FE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Not later than one year —F 2R 2,785 (68) 2,717
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-@mEF —E_=F
SIHSGRE =A=+—8H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Current liabilities e A & 1,402 2,717
Non-current liabilities EmEBaE 1,370 =
2,772 2,717
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate RS BRARAERZHEEARE

FriE A Z AR AESEEF
KH59%(ZE-_=4 :50%) °

applied to lease liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position is 5.9% (2023: 5.0%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBRRME
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z—NF=F=+—HILFE
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
—E-_ME=A=1+-H “E-=F=ZfA=+-H
No. of ordinary No. of ordinary
shares HK$°000 shares HK$'000
EERHA TET LTRREE THT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each ~ &R EE0.10E T2
BHER
Authorised ETE 2,000,000,000 200,000 2,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid BRITRET 290,373,235 29,037 287,071,349 28,707
On 24 May 2023, 3,301,886 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RZEZ=FRA=-+TAH -
have been issued at a price of HK$0.212 per share for service 3,301 ,886H SREENE TN LB
received by the Company. Premium on the issue of shares, BEZSR0212F T 2 Bi& 31T
amounting to approximately HK$370,000, was credited to the AR 2 RIUER AR 75 © BHATAR 1D 2 0%
Company’s share premium account. B #9370,0008 T2 T AKX R A 2 IR
17] /ﬁ]l{E/E\E °
Details of the Company’s share option schemes and the share RN R B R B R AR IR AT 8347
options issued under the schemes are included in note 26 to 2 BB BB R B HN R A I S R Y
the consolidated financial statements. 26
26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 26. [ERREARESTE

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the share option scheme include the directors
and employees of the Group. A share option scheme became
effective on 31 May 2002 and expired on 31 May 2012 (the
“2002 Scheme”). A new share option scheme was adopted
and became effective on 28 March 2013 and expired on 28
March 2023 (the “2013 Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, the 2002 Scheme and 2013 Scheme (collectively,
the “Share Option Schemes”) will remain in force for ten years
from the effective date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

26.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options permitted
to be granted under the Share Option Schemes was an amount
equivalent to, upon their exercise, 10% of the total number of
shares in issue as at the respective dates of approval of the
Share Option Schemes. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options granted to each eligible
participant in the Share Option Schemes within any 12-month
period was limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
of the Company.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors. In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time and
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting of the Company.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. Options may be
exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
options to the end of the exercise period.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
Directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing price
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of the Company.

Under the 2013 Scheme, options were granted to eligible
participants and there were no outstanding options to
subscribe for shares at the beginning and at the end of the
reporting period.

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes
in the Company’s share capital.

26.

IR (&)

1R 15K B8 AR HA M A B8 1% M R T
ERE s e 8B EEEITERIE
ERARBR LB B8 2 48
FARHBEEITRHDLE Z210% - BIK
BB RE R 2R 1218 B BiM | &
AER2EERN ZBIREAE T %
TZRHBEREERARAR B REM
R BTG 2 1% ° 8 IR
E—OSERDBERARENARGRE
A FEERRERE -

BYAARES TBTHAEB =
DRR R sk BTl B 8 A+ 2 BB A% B
BESENERITEFT 2 S RME -
o - AT 1218 A R A A E E
DRE B IEMITE SR E T E
ZATEREBBEARRTAERD
BTN 01% M BE (REBEARQFR
HREBEHEBZEBERTE) LB
5,000,000 7 7T 2 {E ] B A% HA e ZR A X
NEIRRA S AR 2 B -

Bz B EARK L A H&28 B
NER AR AEREAXNA KA1
B Z REANE - BERHIE A B iR
BRI E A =T HIRBERTTE -

BRAZTEERE=REE K1
BRATRSE () ARAKRORE
R AR B B3 P 2 T (B (i)
ARBBEHRBEEE G BRI AER
7 HRBE R Pz FH U HE K (iii)
ARERtn 2 EE °

BERMEYEETHAAZTAREN
RARBBRRAEG LREZEF -

RE_F-=F58 ArFARAGE
R2REFHOBRDE ReEH
PR IR - BB A BB RAD < (R R
TTE B A HAE -

B PR AT AR B T A A ) 2 IR
ZEMAEED - WREH 21T E
AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

27. RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
during the year/period are as follows:

Share  Contributed
premium surplus
B EE BARS

HK$'000 HK$'000

27. f#®B
RARHERRNEE Rz 2EF
BT
Capital
Special  redemption Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
BhRE RAREHE 2 ER @it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

T T T T T T
Note () Note (b)
fizt (a) i3 (o)
At 1 January 2022 WZE-ZZF-f-H 346,554 1,731,681 17,275 85 (2,369,697) (274.102)
Loss for the period and total TERBERABE
comprehensive expense PERXEHE
for the period - - - - (44,855) (44,855)
At 31 March 2023 and i
1 April 2023 ZA=+-Bk
“E-=F@WA-AH 346,554 1,731,681 17,275 85 (2,414,552 (318,957)
Loss for the year and total REEBERAEE
comprehensive expense PERZEE
for the year - - - - (14,636) (14,636)
Issuance of new shares (Note 25) %4751 (H5£25) 370 - - - - 370
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_E%¥
ZA=+-A 6924 1,731,681 17,275 8§ (2420188  (333223)
Notes: Hiat -
(a)  The contributed surplus represents the excess of the value of (a) WMEBRZE—NAN—FRALEE

shares converted upon conversion of the 2008 Convertible
Bonds and 2019 Convertible Bonds over the nominal amount of
the ordinary shares issued pursuant to section 40(1) of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the credit arising from the
capital reorganisation.

(b)  The special reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries at the date when
the shares were acquired by the Company and the nominal
amount of the Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

28.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

28.

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

BFRAEAFEREZZHZENE

A

RBEEAFEREZZASEEA
A ZFBEINET

Energy Jiarun BEEREH
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-NME —EC-=F
=B=+—H =A=+—H
Percentage of equity interest held by RERE BB 2 FEE iR i
non-controlling interests FrisIRiER 7t
at the reporting date 10% 10%
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
=HA=+—H =A=+—8~
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FHET
Loss for the year/period allocated to DEEIFERER 2
non-controlling interests RNEE HMEEE 7) (2)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling k% B Hi 2 JE#E i 25
interests at the reporting date ZET R 168,450 177,617
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
Revenue WA 2,403 =
Other income and gains o N € - -
Total expenses il 48 %8 (2,469) (19)
Loss for the year/period RERHEEE (66) (19)
Total comprehensive expense AFEE/BEEEAY
for the year/period k] (59,788) (19)
Current assets MEEE 1,719 1
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,684,584 1,776,167
Current liabilities Uik A= (1,802) (20)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE = =
Net cash flows from operating activities RELEEB 2HeRE
P 1) -
Net cash flows from investing activities REREXEB RERE
F5E - i
Net cash flows from financing activities REBMEXB HRERE
=Rt - -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents & & IR & ZE ¥
R (1) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Group did not

have any significant contingent liabilities which have not been
provided for in these financial statements.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions with related parties
during the year/period:

29.

30.

HABE
RZF-_MNE=A=+—HAR=F
ZEFZAZT B AKREYET
fal e R UL A BF R AR L B 2 B
ARREE -

HEBALTZRS

(@) BRUFHFAMBRERE MU S
st 2 R 5 RAEERRSN » K&
BN AFE B RN A L
BTARS :

Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
N-E—-—
BZE —H—H=
—EC-ME —E-=F
=A=+-—H =RA=+—8H
LEFE S
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
K&t FHER FHET
With the non-controlling shareholder E2f} & 2 7] IE 2 B
of a subsidiary: AR
Sales SHE 1,533 =
Payment on lease liabilities HEBENR i - 1,448
Note: Kt -

(i) The rental expense was charged based on terms mutually
agreed between the contractual parties.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T

() HBXTEETH S HE
JEZARFHLER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

(iy  Balances with the non-controlling shareholder at the
end of the reporting period are set out in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of

30. EEBATZXS (&)
(b) EHEBA+TZREEBLEH

(i) MHMEMREFZRBRE
ZEBREN A MR

MiaE19 °

(c) AXEEXEEEAESZHM :

the Group:
The remuneration of directors and other members of key EENHMFTEEEREAER
management during the year/period was as follows: REE /BB zME0T
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022
31 March to 31 March
2024 2023
nWZE—Z
BZ —HA—B=
—EME —T-=F
=A=+-H =A=+—H
IEFE B RS
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %4 « 28 R EWEF| 6,542 8,324
Pension scheme contributions RIREFET B 36 46
6,578 8,370

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

B2 E—FSHBIHNE
B HRARMIFEI0 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

FLOWS

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31. #HLABRE&HRERMHT
(a) Change in liabilities arising from financing (a) METBFEEZEESE:
activities:
Lease Other
liabilities borrowings Total
HEAE HtEE #et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHEIT
At 1 January 2022 R-E——#—A—A 9,034 733863 742,897
Changes from financing cash flows B &H & mEE (5,329) = (5,329)
Non-cash changes FIReEY
— new lease entered — ¥ETHE 5,772 = 5,772
— interest accrued — JEFTF A 702 = 702
— disposal of subsidiaries — REHRBRF (6,895)  (480,326)  (487,221)
— foreign exchange movement — INEE D) (567) (35,349) (35,916)
At 31 March 2023 RZT_=%F
and 1 April 2023 —A=+—HB8k=ZF
—=Fm"A—H 2,717 218,188 220,905
Changes from financing cash flows Bl &H & imE % (2,999) - (2,999)
Non-cash changes RS EH
— new lease entered — ¥ETHE 2,959 - 2,959
— interest accrued — FEETF A 95 - 95
At 31 March 2024 RZTZF
=A=+—H 2,772 218,188 220,960

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. RENEIzERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBREF/HR SEEBITAZIR
instruments as at the end of the reporting year/period are as HEWDT :
follows:
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-NE =
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Financial assets: SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost LSRR AR 2 S Bl
(including cash and cash equivalents) BLE(BERS
KRR EEY) 138,299 127,964
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBERABRZZ
profit or loss SREE 1,508 1,508
139,807 129,472
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
=A=+—H =A=+—8~
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER T
Financial liabilities: SRAE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REERARTYIR 2
TREeE 379,348 338,608
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE =%

33.

—E=ZA=tT-HLEFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value hierarchy

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The following
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value
hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T

33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fae)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 = ==

33.

B RS RAR MY =

—HE=ZA=+T-HLFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 33. AAEHEE)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) DNABESEHREE(E)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2024 RZEBZ_NF=A=+—HEZZ
and 31 March 2023: Z=F=ZA=+—HZARBEZEHE
BERRE
At 31 March 2024 R-B-MFE=A=+—H
Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
WERME BEAT BEART
ZRE BREYE BRYE wat
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%—J8) (5=f8) (5=8)
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR TR TR
Description it
Private club debenture LAEHES 1,508 = = 1,508
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H=+—H
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
NEN R Sy ERAA
ZRE BRHE BRHE Hst
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(-8 (B=E (F=E)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET THET TET
Description ol
Private club debenture LA FES 1,508 = = 1,508

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial

liabilities (2023: Nil).

RAFE HemEERSRAEBM
FOEEBEF_EZHEYEARE
AEER RE-ZEIEEANEH
ZER(ZEZ=F: §&) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, other payables and accruals, which
arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
are principally denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$. The
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the
respective group entities.

Certain of the Group’s liabilities are denominated in US$.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from the exposure of US$ against HK$. The Group
considered the impact on the equity and profit before tax
from the change in US$, exchange rate was nominal at
the end of the reporting year since HK$ is pegged to
USS$.

The Group does not have any hedging instruments
outstanding. The Group will constantly review the
economic situation and its foreign currency risk profile,
and will consider appropriate hedging measures in the
future as may be necessary.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z —NF=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (b)

34, SREAMEEEERRE(Z)

FERR

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and bank balances and restricted bank deposit, trade
and other receivables and deposits and amount due from
the non-controlling shareholder and its affiliates.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net
of loss allowance, represents the Group’s exposure to
credit risk without taking into account the value of any
collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Cash and bank balances

The Group has limited credit risk with its deposits in
financial institutions, which are leading and reputable and
are assessed as having low credit risk. The Group has
not suffered any significant losses arising from the non-
performance by these parties in the past and
management does not expect this position to change in
the future.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties and related parties. It is the Group’s policy
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. The Group limits
its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by
establishing maximum payment period.

AEBGFEERARIZREES
Ko SRITH T&x@ﬂﬁ?r*
BEHREMBUEREZE R
& U 3F 12 B B SR B EL Bt B R )
HIE - BEREESRIEEERE
WHZEEERRIFEES -

REEMBRANKRERZ S R
BEZREE 0K EREE)
BEAKEEEZEERR I
BEEZRMBAEZEMERRE
B EMERERERE -

RBERBITHETF
AEBFRRAMZELZER
BBZEFRZEERRER
%%é@%%ﬁ%%%ﬁhﬁ
CAEEBEIERZSE
AiXEﬁﬁ%%EﬁEKE
X ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁ%%ﬂ%#ﬁ

/\ #ui

B 5 EWER
AEEERDERRE Eﬂ
ZE=ZNNEBMALETES -
REBZHRRRAERE MG

BERFRETEI ZCRPYAEK
X EELREREF ARBEER
VERMFE ARG EAR
KBEEZRYERZEERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
due on credit. The credit period is generally 0 to 30 days.
Advances are required for certain customers. The
Directors consider that these arrangements enable the
Group to limit its credit risk exposure. As 31 March 2024,
100% of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the
Group’s largest and the five largest customer
respectively, there was a significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. The
Group did not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over the trade receivable balances.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of
clients and the trade receivables are categorised by
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL for trade receivables and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment. The
expected loss rate used in the provision matrix is
calculated for each category based on the past three
years and adjusted for current and forward-looking
factors to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historical
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables. There was no change
in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions
made during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z —NF=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

34, SREAMEEEERRE(Z)

The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL
for trade receivables using a provision matrix as at 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are summarised below:

At 31 March 2024

(b) EERR(E)
EBEZEWR (&)
BFREEERBEAR - _N4F
—A=+—- 5&7777$7
A=+t BEBREEERE
SEWEFIEL 2 EREEE
BrzERBRAT -

R-BE-_WE=ZA=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount  allowance impaired
EHBEXR HIREE BEERE EERE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FTHERT TER
Not past due A - 1,719 - No &
Less than 6 months past due BH DR 61{E A - - - No &
More than 6 months past due wHAER B 6 {E A - - - No &
1,719 -
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H=+—H
Gross

Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
BHEEE fatRmEE EERE = ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
Not past due PNl N/A i A - = No &
Less than 6 months past due B 61E A N/A i A - - No &
More than 6 months past due wHAER A6 E A N/A 1~ - - No &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group did not recognised loss allowance on the
trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2023. The movement in the loss allowance for trade
receivables during the last period is summarised below:

34, 2REAMEEEERRE(Z)

(b) FERME)

BESEWR (&)

RZE-_WNE=A=+—8xX
—E-=FE=ZA=+—H" 'K
EETERE HEUWERNER
EEEE F—HEESER
IRREERENEFBMMT

31 March 31 March

2024 2023

TEZWEF —ZT=fF

=A=+-—H =RA=+—8H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHET
At beginning of the reporting R FER Y

year/period - 150,235

Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR - (137,600)

Exchange realignment ME WS - (12,635)
At end of the reporting Rk F R

year/period - -

Other receivables and deposits HBEMEREFRES

The Group considers that the other receivables and
deposits have low credit risk based on the debtors’ strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, the
Group has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience on the debtors historical utilisation
pattern of deposits paid and the financial position of the
counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts, and adjusted for
forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
and general economic conditions of the industry in which
the counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of
default of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon
default in each case. The management of the Group
considers the ECL of these financial assets to be
insignificant after taking into account the financial position
and credit quality of the counterparties.
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AEBERR  HEEERRK
ZeREREERR  KER
BEHEAERRENREHET
HAeWBeRnEaEERZOA
AR o HoAth & W RR SR Z BB T
BE+_EABEREERENE
I = BR AT A BB 2 HARRAE -

R RREEERERRNE
EEERBREE BT HERRE
REEMEReREEREHR
EERER AEECEEY
BEBAZEN RS AN EESHHR
AZNEFEREEBEBRLR R
RHHFZHBHRR L2 E
(B8 HEEXEEZIR
B 3B E B AR E 2 A BE 1
RERRXRGHFEEMEZT
RZ—REBBERELHE
Ut ZEeREEZENOBY
EUREBERATZENEBE-
REBRZHEF 2WBMRRK
FEEERR AEHEEER
R REEREEZEMEE
BRI TEKX -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z = Z —NF=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

34, SREAMEEEERRE(Z)

(b) EERR(E)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not recognised loss
allowance (2023: HK$34,316,000) on the balances. The
movement in the loss allowance for the balances during
the year/period is summarised below.

HttERRAREZEE ()
R-_TE_MF=A=+—8"
AEBARREFRIABERE
(ZZT =% :34,316,000 %
L) RAREE/HE B2
EEREHESAMIT

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
=H=+—H —A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At beginning of the reporting RIREFHY)
year/period 58,314 96,367
Increase in allowance B E N - 34,316
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKTE AR - (65,764)
Exchange realignment & 3 R - (6,605)
At end of the reporting year/period R & 4,/ HIK 58,314 58,314
Amounts due from the non-controlling shareholder of ERHEAaHERRERE
a subsidiary and its affiliates BEAANE
In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is REGFEREEBRRERER FZ
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition FEERREE BT ER

and whether the amount due from the non-controlling
shareholder and its affiliates is credit impaired, the Group
has taken into account the historical actual credit loss
experience on the non-controlling shareholder and its
affiliates and their financial position with reference to their
management accounts and adjusted for forward-looking
factor, guaranteed amount in Guarantee Agreement
mentioned in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, in estimating the probability of default of the
amounts from the non-controlling shareholder and its
affiliates, as well as the loss upon default. The
management of the Group considers that the credit risk
on the amounts is significant, however, their ECL is
considered to be insignificant after taking into
consideration of the above factors.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year/period.

ﬁhfm&$W#¥h&$&
EHMBARREELHREE
BER AEEBEEIELER

BREIREBEBAGZAFER
FEEBEBRRETHERR -

WLEHEIEKRE WHRATE
MAE ERBEANERS
B (Q4R G B RS ER P E 19 Aiadt)
EH FAE - AfE s B AR SR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AREMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

34, 2REAMEEEERRE(Z)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBESRR
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEBECZERABEREREAM
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of BEMESEECRHBETEE)
other borrowings. EME 2 EES FE -
The maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Group RIEHR EREFTHNER
as at the end of the reporting periods, based on the HBENRcAEESREEE
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: HERET -
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_@mE=A=+—H
Within
1 year or
ondemand 1to5 years Total
1FRH
REX 1ZE55 @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT FEx THET
Trade payables EC Y AN 1,715 - 1,715
Other payables, accruals and Hip TR - Rt IA
deposit received REYIES 105,228 54,194 159,422
Other borrowings HifgE 218,188 - 218,188
Interest portion of other borrowings HibfgE®F S35 18,016 - 18,016
Lease liabilities HEEBR 1,518 1,400 2,918
344,665 55,594 400,259

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(¢

(d)

34, SREAMEEEERRE(Z)

Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) RBELEM(Z)
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=HA=+—H
within
1 year or
ondemand  1to5years Total
1FAHL
BEX 1E5%F st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Other payables, accruals and Hith ERTBRER - FESH B
deposit received kB YES 59,199 58,504 117,703
Other borrowings HipfgE 218,188 - 218,188
Interest portion of other borrowings HinfEEMFI 2D 18,016 - 18,016
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,785 - 2,785
298,188 58,504 356,692
Capital management (d EBEXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the year ended 31
March 2024 and the fifteen months ended 31 March
2028.

AEEEAERZBEERE
RERAEEAGRELE
EH - BERRRZEARLE
A 7 EEENE - FR&EK
ZBREE-

AEBREBLEEBRLZEE K
HEEEZRAREE E8E
BRGEBWIELAE - BHER
RFEERNERE  NEERE
FAERREIRE RS - A&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

34, 2REAMEEEERRE(Z)

Capital management (Continued) (d) EXEE(E)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is AEERAEBIERNUNES
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt MEeEFHEFECERLRE
includes trade payables, other payables, accruals and RERRR - EBFREBEL
deposits received, other borrowings, lease liabilities and MBRZBHBITHEFRARRS
tax payable, net of restricted bank deposits and cash and MRITHEGFER 2 E D EMNERER
bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable to HEMEMNERR B RBERE
owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end Wike B E  HEAEN
of the respective reporting periods were as follows: LRENTIE BERBIEARRF
BAEANELERE REBZR®
HHRZIERLEENT -
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—EWEF =%
=A=+-—H =A=+—8H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Trade payables Z SRR 1,715 =
Other payables, accruals and E RN - BT RIE
deposit received MEWizs 156,673 117,703
Other borrowings HEmEgE 218,188 218,188
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,772 2,717
Tax payable FES I8 362,774 382,496
Less: Cash and bank balances B REe RIRITETR (2,448) (601)
Net debt B FE 739,674 720,503
Capital — equity attributable to BER —AKREEE A
owners of the Company FEAS B 916,613 1,011,367
Capital and net debt BEARREBFRE 1,656,287 1,731,870
Net gearing ratio FAER X 45% 42%
Fair value (e) ARE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair value.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE T —WFE=A=+—HILFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35. XA F zHHMRK
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BERARRRBEF /R HBM

Company at the end of the reporting year/period is as follows: MERERAT -
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=F
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET

Current assets REEE
Prepayment, deposit and TEHIE ek

other receivables H b B AR R 324 318
Amount due from subsidiaries JE Y B /B8~ | 3R IB 24,240 -
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHETT 77 285
Total current assets RBEEHE 24,641 603
Current liabilities =R
Other payables, accruals and H M ERTBRR - FEETFRIA K

deposit received B iL e 89,048 53,327
Amount due to subsidiaries FESTBT B A B FkI8 39,779 37,526
Other borrowings HEiEE 200,000 200,000
Total current liabilities B EEAEE 328,827 290,853
Net current liabilities REBEFE (304,186) (290,250)
Total assets less current liabilities EERABERRBERE (304,186) (290,250)
NET LIABILITIES BEFH (304,186) (290,250)
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Issued capital TR 29,037 28,707
Reserves i (333,223) (318,957)
TOTAL DEFICIT B ah4e5E (304,186) (290,250)

RZZE-_MENAZT/\BREEE
HENFEERSG TR TIESEAR
FE:

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
28 August 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick

iR e BEDEEE
Director Director
E2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fae)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 HZE =%

36.

37.

Bt RS SRR MY =

—E=ZA=tT-HLEFE

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Statutory demand — Cinda

With reference to the Company’s announcement dated 18 June
2024, the Company received a 2nd statutory demand from the
legal representative of the major creditor demanding the
Company to pay the outstanding borrowing of HK$200,000,000
with accrued interest, within 21 days after the service of the
statutory demand, failing which a wind-up petition against the
Company may be presented by the major creditor. With
reference to the Company’s announcements dated 2 August
2024 and 8 August 2024, the Company received a winding-up
petition (the “Petition”), which was filed against the Company
on 2 August 2024 at the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region by the major creditor (the “Petitioner”)
for the winding up of the Company under the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong).The
Company is seeking legal opinion and advice to determine the
next steps and possible actions in respect of the Petition.
Meanwhile, the Company will endeavor to keep active and
good communication with the Petitioner, and, making efforts to
procure the withdrawal the Petition as soon as possible and will
also actively prepare for a hearing defense and strive for the
court to dismiss the Petition.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 August
2024.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T

36.

37.

BEHRER
EEER —FE
ZRAARB AR T _MFRNA

TNBZRAE  ARAKE ETE2ER
/\Zi@ﬁ%%ﬁ‘ﬁZ”:Tﬁ%EE*
BEE  EXARARNZEERFRE

fﬁaLLZEﬁ_ﬁ‘m EIWS‘ZH%HHET
i& f& 3% 200,000,000 7% JT 2 [A) F& 51 H
Bk TB2ERATRES
REHHARANBERER - LI
ARBEMA-_T_MENA-AR

“ECMOFENRANRZRE S ARF
EREBREF(ZE2H) - ZE2HFR

“ENFENAZHHAARRHNEER
BREA(TZ2HBAD ABBFEINITHRE
BEEREL  BERBREBEBEENE
R2EL(R A OF B M IEAE ) 561D
FHESUE AN BER - ARAIEES
KEBEEERRER  AETEEY
ZEBNBESRANAREIRIAITE) ©
B AARBEHEEFAREE
BB OREZEFERZRERE 1B
SHRBEHBRANE - FEUAREUHE

i O i
X E @8 °

HE B IS R
HEFAMBRREXR - _OFN
AZ+H\BEESEHAERFTEEM



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AERBHE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=T-HLEE
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2022 to
31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2021 2020 2019
R-E-—
#2 —A-B=z
—ECME —E-=f
ZA=t-B ZA=+—H
LEE HF] 2 -3 “E-NE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn FAT TET FAT TET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BERERE
Revenue WA 2,403 34,726 866,602 1,176,982 1,605,356
Cost of sales HEMA (2,400) (125,638) (753,868) (1,050,092) (1,429,499)
Gross profit/(loss) EH/(£8) 3 (90,912) 112,734 126,890 175,857
Compensation income HEKA 22,416 41367 8,703 14,130 10,126
Other income and gains, net Hf A R e - 54 274 299,238 226,480 284,397 254,588
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEN B FAME - 1,693,981 = = =
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEKA - (1,565) (1,417) (10,953) (123,024)
Administrative expenses ERER (27,327) (114,007) (99,920) (93,595) (109,072)
Finance costs HBER (31,105) (157,108) (113,936) (73,351) (60,004)
Other operating expenses, net EtiSERY - 358 - (34,316) (154,157) (775,051) (143,500)
(Loss)/profit before tax KA (B1B)/ 5 F (35,739) 1,638,678 (21,513) (527,533) 4,971
Income tax s - (387,817) (9,669) (4,999) (11,547)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FORTHE YEAR A (E518),/ %7 (35,739) 1,048,861 (31,182) (532,532) (6,576)
Attributable to: FEfE
Owners of the Company ADAHEAA (35,732) 1,350,163 (31,259) (484,675) (9,391)
Non-controlling interests FIMRER (7 1,304 77 (47,857) 2815
(35,739) 1,248 861 (31,182) (532,532) (6,576)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBHE

Year ended 31 December
BZt-A=t-HLEE

31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2021 2020 2019

g1} “E-=F
ZB=+-H =A=t-H —E-—& —E-EE “E-NE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL THET THT TR
TOTAL ASSETS BEAE 1,827,185 1,910,086 2,221,404 2,064,344 2,661,384
TOTAL LIABILITIES BENE (742,122) (721,104) (2,379,496) 2,189,245 (2,248,286)
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/(8B) 38 1,085,063 1,188,982 (158,092) (124,901) 413,098

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO ADFHEE NEGRR#E

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 916,613 1,011,367 (144,233) (111,409) 378,337
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  3iZ R 168,450 177,615 (13,859) (13,492) 34,761
1,085,063 1,188,982 (158,092) (124,901) 413,098

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED F1Z =R ER A 7




DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

RARERN - BXEREAESN > THRAEREE TIEE

“AGM”
[BRBFAE]

“Annual Report”

=1

“associate(s)”
(B8 AL

“Board”
=3

“Bermuda Companies Act 1981”

[BERE-NAN—FRADE]

“Bye-Laws”
INSIEE N

“CG Report”
[EEEwmE]
“Company”

[AR7]]

“Companies Ordinance”

“Director(s)”

[E%]
“ESG Report”
(R - g RERRE]

“Group”
[AREE ]

the annual general meeting of the Company
RRARBITZRRAFRE

this annual report of the Group prepared for the year ended 31 March 2024
AEEFGREBE_Z_NF=A=1t—HBLEFEZRFR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
H EmRAIE T2 RE

board of Directors of the Company

RRBEER

the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

(BRE-NAN-FREE) - BTIHER] - BRI EM T ER

the bye-laws from time to time adopted by the Company
RAB RN 2 X EIAA

the corporate governance report contained in this Annual Report from pages 38
to 59
NEREIBESIEMH 2 BEERRE

Huscoke Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability, whose issued Shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
MBEZERERAR  REREFAMKIZARAR - EEBITRMOPERAE
R ET

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEEDIFE 622 B R ARG - BTRHERT - MFR AT B

the directors of the Company

RRRES

the environmental, social and governance report contained in this Annual Report
from pages 60 to 92

REREOEREMEIRE - LB RERAWE

the Company and its subsidiaries

EN/NCIDS @Y )= PNC]
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“Hong Kong”
(&

*HKS"
Eeud

“Listing Rules”
[ EmRAl
“PRC”

[ B

“RMB”
(AR

“SFO”
(787 M ' 5G]

“Share(s)”
[ ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bg6 22 P

“subsidiaries”

(B8 2~ &)

‘USs$”
E

wop”
[%]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REARKMEEBERFRTHE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BRBIEEERET

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

RSB % TR A (TS ET)

the People’s Republic of China, excludes Hong Kong and Macau in this Annual
Report
REARANE  BAFHHEF - TEEES LR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

FREZEEEEARE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FREPESTI EC(EF L RABER) - EARIER] - R AE M A Bk

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company
RARIRAFEREEO010E T 2 EilAR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHOFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERHABERAT]

a subsidiary (within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance or section 86 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981) for the time being and from time to time of
the Company

RRARERRAKZMEBRR RARMEIIKEFRE-NN\—FREDEF 86K
ZEE)

United States dollars, the lawful currency of United States

B EEERET

per cent
Ao

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED M FZ#ZERBER A T
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